
 
 

 
 
 
NMC Health Plc 

FINANCIAL REPORT: Full year ended 31 December 2014  

 
London, 24 February 2015: NMC Health Plc (LSE:NMC) (‘NMC’), the 
leading integrated private sector healthcare operator in the United Arab 

Emirates, announces its results for the full year ended 31 December 2014.  
 

Financial summary and highlights 
 
Financial Summary  

US$m (unless stated) FY2014 FY2013 Growth  

        

Group       

Revenue               643.9         550.9  16.9% 

Gross profit               209.2         185.5  12.8% 

Gross profit margin 32.5% 33.7% -119bps 

EBITDA               102.5           92.9  10.2% 

EBITDA margin 15.9% 16.9% -96bps 

Net Profit 77.5 69.1 12.1% 

Net Profit margin 12.0% 12.6% -51bps 

Earnings per share (US$) 0.412 0.367 12.3% 

Dividend per share (GBP pence) 5.4  4.4 22.7%  

Net cash from operating activities 85.7 85.1 0.7% 

Total Capital Expenditure additions in the 
year 

 
112.3 

 
82.7 35.8% 

Capital Expenditure relating to four capital 
projects announced at IPO 

 
86.4 

 
72.2 19.7% 

Total cash and short term bank deposits 263.2 268.7 -2.1% 

Total debt 376.1 332.4 13.2% 

Net Debt  113.0 63.7 77.3% 

        

Divisional performances       

Healthcare revenue               332.2         289.3  14.8% 

Healthcare EBITDA                 88.2           81.7  8.0% 

Healthcare EBITDA margin 26.6% 28.2% -168bps 

Healthcare net profit 73.1 74.3 -1.7% 

Healthcare net profit margin 22.0% 25.7% -14.4% 

Healthcare occupancy 71.3% 64.7% 660bps 

        

Distribution revenue               338.9         300.2  12.9% 

Distribution EBITDA                 34.1           29.9  14.1% 

Distribution EBITDA margin 10.1% 10.0% 11bps 

Distribution net profit 28.4 27.8 2.0% 

Distribution net profit margin 8.4% 9.3% -89bps 

 



 
 

 
Notes:  

 Net Profit is a non-IFRS term which is the same as profit before tax as 
shown in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

 EBITDA is the same as Profit from operations before depreciation and 
impairment as shown in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.  

 Net cash from operating activities is equivalent to Net cash from 
operating activities as shown in the Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows. 

 Total cash is represented by short term bank deposits and bank 
balances and cash.  

 Total debt is a non-IFRS line item and includes term loans and bank 
overdrafts and other short term borrowings shown on the face of the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  

 Net Debt is a non-IFRS line item and is total cash less total debt, both 
as defined above. 

 
 
FY2014 Financial Highlights 
 

 Group revenues increased by 16.9% to US$643.9m  

 Healthcare division revenue increased by 14.8% to US$332.2m
1
 

 Distribution division revenue grew by 12.9% to US$338.9m
2
 

 EBITDA increased by 10.2% to US$102.5m 

 EBITDA margin declined by 96bps to 15.9%  

 Net profits increased by 12.1% to US$77.5m 

 Net profit margins declined by 51bps to 12.0% 

 Earnings per share (EPS) amounted to US$0.412 

 Proposed dividend pay-out ratio is maintained at 20% of profit after 
tax, amounting to GBP

3
  5.4 pence per share 

 Total capital expenditure for the year reached US$112.3m, 35.8% 
higher compared to FY2013

4
 

 Net debt reached US$113.0m as the Group continued to advance its 
on-going healthcare projects 

        

      FY2014 Business Highlights - A year on year (YOY) comparison 

 Healthcare division’s patients increased by 15.6% to 2.4m 

 Revenue per patient from healthcare services increased by 2.6% to 
reach US$114.5 

                                                
1
 Before inter-company elimination 

2
 Before inter-company elimination 

3
 British Pound  

4
 Includes  US$112.3m on capital projects 

 
 
  
 



 
 

 Hospital bed occupancy rates reached 71.3%, an improvement of 
660bps, despite a 10.0% increase in operational beds to 287 

 Doctors’ employed reached 603, an increase of 19.9% 

 Distribution division increased its product portfolio by 17.4% to 
83,635 stock keeping units (SKU) 

 Sales and marketing personnel at the Distribution division grew 6.1% 
to 642 

 NMC General Hospital in Dubai Investment Park and Brightpoint 
Royal Women’s Hospital in Abu Dhabi commenced operations in July 
2014 

 NMC Medical Centre in Al Ain commenced operations in Dec 2014 

 Dubai Emirate rolled out the first phase of mandatory healthcare 
insurance in October 2014  

 
Dr B.R. Shetty, Chief Executive Officer, commented: 
 
”2014 was a good year for NMC, where both divisions performed well. I am 
particularly proud of the three new healthcare assets we opened, including 
the first private sector women’s hospital in Abu Dhabi. The Group delivered 
double digit EBITDA growth and set the stage for accelerated growth in the 
future supported by its growing network and the new US$825m financing 
facility announced in February 2015.” 
 

Outlook 

 
The macro-economic outlook for 2015 in the UAE and the gulf region remains 
positive and is expected to continue supporting the growth of our business 
divisions. 

  
The Emirate of Dubai’s started rolling-out mandatory medical insurance in Q4 
2014 in a phased approach over the following two years, starting with the 
largest employers. Dubai Health Authority (DHA) estimates around 66% of 
the Emirate’s residents are without healthcare insurance. With the addition of 
the NMC General Hospital in Dubai Investment Park in 2014, NMC Health 
increased its bed capacity in Dubai by 55% and now has three hospitals and 
a day surgery in the Emirate. In addition, NMC is a leading distributor of 
pharmaceuticals, a segment expected to grow as a result of increased 
medical insurance penetration.  

The flagship 250 bed NMC Super Specialty Hospital in Khalifa City, Abu 
Dhabi is expected to join our portfolio of operational healthcare assets in 
2015 and contribute towards the Group’s growth in future periods. 

Additional key products are expected to be added to our Distribution division 
portfolio. 
 
The new US$825m financing facility will reduce like-for-like cost of debt on 
the existing loans it is replacing. The facility includes a US$475m delayed 
drawdown tranche which we expect to support the next stage of NMC’s 
growth by expanding our inorganic growth capabilities.  



 
 

Analyst and investor conference call  
 
A conference call and webcast for analysts and investors will take place 
today, Tuesday 24 February 2015 at 14:00 GMT/ 18:00 UAE / 10:00 EST.  
 

A copy of this report will be available on the Company’s Investor 
Relations website which can be accessed from www.nmchealth.com. 
 
Contacts 
 
Investors 
NMC Health        
Prasanth Manghat, Deputy Chief Executive Officer +971 50 522 5648 
Suresh Krishnamoorthy, Chief Financial Officer                +971 50 591 5365 
Roy Cherry, Head of Strategy and Investor Relations +971 50 667 0184 

 
Media 
FTI Consulting, London 
 
Matthew Cole                 +44 (0)20 3727 1101 
 
FTI Consulting, Gulf 
  
Shane Dolan                 +971 (0)4 437 2100 
 
 
Cautionary statement 
 
These Preliminary Results have been prepared solely to provide additional 
information to shareholders to assess the Group’s performance in relation to 
its operations and growth potential. These Preliminary Results should not be 
relied upon by any other party or for any other reason. Any forward looking 
statements made in this document are done so by the directors in good faith 
based on the information available to them up to the time of their approval of 
this report. However, such statements should be treated with caution due to 
the inherent uncertainties, including both economic and business risk factors, 
underlying any such forward-looking information. 
 
The listing rules of the UK Listing Authority (LR 9.7A.1) require that 
preliminary statements of annual results must be agreed with the listed 
company’s auditor prior to publication. In addition the Listing Rules require 
such statements to give details of the nature of any likely modifications that 
may be contained in the auditor’s report to be included with the Annual 
Report and whether any audit report has been issued on the statutory 
accounts. NMC Health plc confirms that it has agreed this preliminary 
announcement of annual results with Ernst & Young LLP. The financial 
information presented in this preliminary announcement was authorised for 
issue by the Board of Directors on 23 February 2015. The auditor’s report on 
those financial statements was unqualified and did not contain a statement 
under section 498 of the Companies Act 2006. The audited financial 
statements will be delivered to the Registrar of Companies and a copy will 
also be available on the Company’s website (www.nmchealth.com) in due 
course. The financial information contained in this document does not 
constitute statutory accounts as defined in section 435 of the Companies Act 
2006.  
 



 
 

This constitutes regulated information for the purposes of the Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules. 
 
Statement of Directors' Responsibilities 
 
Responsibility statement of the directors on the Annual Report & Accounts 
  
The Group’s Annual Report & Accounts for the year ended 31 December 
2014 includes the following responsibility statement. 
  
Each of the directors confirms that, to the best of their knowledge: 
  
The financial statements, prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the 
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a 
whole; and 
 
The Strategic Report includes a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the Company and the 
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a 
description of the principal risks and uncertainties they face. 
  
  
On behalf of the Board 
  
Simon Watkins 
Group Company Secretary 
23 February 2015 

 

About NMC 
 
NMC Health plc group is the leading private sector healthcare operator in the 
United Arab Emirates, with a nation-wide network of hospitals and operations 
in the country since 1975. The Healthcare Division currently operates or 
manages seven hospitals, two day-care patient centres, two medical centres 
and eleven pharmacies. The company received almost 2.4m patients in 
2014. The group also operates a significant UAE wide Distribution business 
supplying product lines across several key market segments, including: 
Pharmaceutical, FMCG, Food and Scientific and Medical Equipment. NMC 
Health plc group reported revenues of US$ 643.9m in 2014. 
 
In April 2012 NMC Health plc was listed on the Premium Segment of the 
London Stock Exchange. At the time of its IPO, the group raised funds to 
enable it to pursue a further growth plan with a number of capital projects for 
new healthcare facilities in Abu Dhabi and Dubai. NMC Health plc is a 
constituent of the FTSE 250 Index. 
 

 

 

 

 



 
 

Business and Financial Review 

Business Overview 

Operational review 
 
NMC Health’s business spans across the UAE through its healthcare and 
distribution divisions. The Group reported consolidated revenues of 
US$643.9m in FY2014 (+16.9% YOY)) with approximately 49.5% (49.1% 
FY2013) coming from its healthcare business and 50.5% (50.9% FY2013) 
from the wholesale product distribution.  
 
 
In contrast, the healthcare division accounted for 72% (73% FY2013) of 
Group EBITDA with the balance of 28% (27% FY2013) coming from the 
comparatively lower margin distribution business. With the expansion in 
NMC’s healthcare network, healthcare revenue growth will continue to 
outpace the distribution division to eventually exceed its top-line contribution, 
however, the short-to-medium term effect of the new hospital openings will be 
negative on the divisional margin. 
 
Consolidated group EBITDA reached US$102.5m with a year-on-year growth 
of 10.2%. The group EBITDA margin retreated to 15.9% and was down by 
96bps year-on-year due to the initial negative impact from new hospital 
openings. If we adjust group revenue and EBITDA by excluding the impact 
from recent healthcare asset openings, EBITDA growth would be 15.6% and 
the margin 17.1% (FY2013 margin: 17.1%). 
 
 
Depending on a number of variables, reaching EBITDA breakeven for the 

group’s new healthcare assets is estimated to take:  

 12-18 months for medical centres and day surgeries 

 18-24 months for hospitals  

 
Healthcare division 
 
Our healthcare division operates in the major emirates and cities of the UAE 
including Abu Dhabi, Al Ain, Dubai, Sharjah and Umm Al Quwain. Together 
these Emirates and cities account for nearly 85% of UAE residents. We 
operate six hospitals, two day surgeries, two medical centre and eleven in-
hospital pharmacies.  In addition, the Group operates a seventh hospital on 
behalf of the UAE Ministry of Presidential Affairs, the 205 bed Sheikh Khalifa 
General Hospital in Umm Al Quwain, under an operations and management 
contract initiated in Q4 2012 with a five year duration. 
 
This division reported revenues of US$332.2m in FY2014 (+14.8% YoY), 
including US$273.7m from healthcare services, US$52.8m from hospital 
pharmacies and US$5.7m from the operation and management of third-party 
healthcare assets.  
 
A total of 2.4m patients visited our healthcare network in FY2014, an 
increase of 15.6% compared to FY2013.  
 



 
 

The average revenue per patient from healthcare services amounted to 
US$114.5, 2.6% higher than FY2013 with growth derived from a combination 
of price increase and service mix. This figure was slightly subdued due to the 
initial out-patient only operations of Brightpoint Royal Women’s Hospital and 
the NMC General Hospital in DIP. A further factor was the relative exhaustion 
of inpatient capacity at Abu Dhabi Specialty Hospital due to the near full 
occupancy at the facility. We typically guide on full occupancy equivalent in 
the UAE of around 75%, Abu Dhabi Specialty reached 81% during 2014. We 
also highlight that NMC’s occupancy calculation is based on overnight stay 
only, in other words, day patient surgery without overnight stay is not 
accounted for in the occupancy rates.  
 
Table with per asset indicators 

 
 

 
 
Note: Revenue per patient is based on contribution from our healthcare services, excluding the 
contribution from the operation & management contract on the Sheikh Khalifa Hospital in UAQ. It 
also excludes the contribution from four out of our eleven pharmacies, specifically those located 
around the hospitals rather than within them. 

 
Abu Dhabi Emirate 
NMC treated a total of 1.59m patients in 2014 (+16.2% YoY) within the Abu 
Dhabi Emirate across its facilities in both Abu Dhabi City and Al Ain City. As 
of year-end 2014, the Group had a total licensed capacity of 300 hospital 
beds, a 50% increase year-on-year resulting from the addition of Brightpoint 
Royal Women’s Hospital during the period. 
 
1. Abu Dhabi Specialty Hospital 

Despite being the longest serving and most mature asset within our 
healthcare portfolio, Abu Dhabi Specialty Hospital had another strong 
year in 2014 – delivering relatively high growth in revenues, patients, 
occupancy and revenue per patient. This remains the largest patient 
recipient within the NMC network. The facility continues to provide a wide 
range of specialties and has Joint Commission International (JCI) 
accreditation for its service levels. It is located in the densely populated 
centre of Abu Dhabi City.  
 
Revenues reached US$111.1m, with a year on year growth of 10.1%, on 
8.7% growth in patients compared to 2013 and with the total number of 
patients received rising to 1.02m. The revenue per patient increased by 
1.3% to reach US$109, with the growth diluted by the near full occupancy 
on the higher revenue inpatient services. The utilisation of this 100 bed 

Detail NMC Abu Dhabi NMC Al Ain B. Point NMC Sp. Dubai NMC Dubai DIP BR Med. MBZC AAMC NMC Sharjah Total

Established 1975 2008 2014 2004 1999 2014 2011 2013 2014 1996 N/A

Emirate Abu Dhabi Abu Dhabi Abu Dhabi Dubai Dubai Dubai Dubai Abu Dhabi Abu Dhabi Sharjah N/A

City Abu Dhabi Al Ain Abu Dhabi Dubai Dubai Dubai Dubai Abu Dhabi Al Ain Sharjah N/A

Location City centre City Centre Muroor Al Nahda Deira DIP DHCC MBZC Saniya City Centre N/A

Ow ned/Leased Leased Leased Leased Ow ned Leased Leased Leased Leased Leased Leased N/A

Category Specialty Hospital Specialty Hospital Specialty Hospital Specialty Hospital General Hospital General Hospital Day Surgery Day Surgery Day Surgery Medical Centre N/A

Accreditation JCI JCI – JCI – – – – – – –

Revenue (USD '000) 111,062              57,980                929                     65,599               13,902             2,496               3,608        5,342        3               12,785           273,706     

Grow th, YoY 10.1% 20.5% N/A 17.3% 13.7% N/A 40.0% 489.7% N/A 24.2% 18.5%

Revenue/patient 109                     121                     122                     175                    65                    96                    262           65             99             74.9               115            

Grow th, YoY 1.3% 3.2% N/A 6.5% 4.7% N/A -2.5% 36.3% N/A 11.0% 2.6%

Capacity

Licensed beds 100 100 N/A 100 10 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 310

Operational beds 100 83 N/A 94 10 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 287

Grow th, YoY 0% 38% N/A 3% 0% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 10.0%

Spare capacity (beds %) 0% 17% N/A 6% 0% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 7.4%

Staff 1,448                  808                     83                       727                    269                  322                  47             191           60             174                3,895

Patients

Inpatients 21,620 10,380 n/a 10,096 1,348 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 43,444

Outpatients 996,653 470,685 7,636                  365,492 213,384 26,044             13,760      82,372      27             170,727 2,346,780

Total 1,018,273 481,065 7,636 375,588 214,732 26,044 13,760 82,372 27 170,727 2,390,224

Grow th, YoY 8.7% 16.8% N/A 10.1% 8.6% N/A 43.6% 332.6% N/A 12.0% 15.6%

Bed Occupancy 81% 69% N/A 66% 45% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 71.3%

Change, YoY 170bps 876bps N/A 1166bps 129bps N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 660bps



 
 

facility, in terms of bed occupancy, amounted to 81% during the year 
compared to 79% in 2013.  

 
2. Al Ain Specialty Hospital 

NMC Health inaugurated the Al Ain Specialty Hospital in the second 
largest city within the emirate of Abu Dhabi in 2008. This expansion was 
encouraged by the adoption of mandatory healthcare insurance in Abu 
Dhabi Emirate in the immediately preceding years. Al Ain Specialty 
Hospital had the JCI accreditation of its quality and service levels 
renewed for a further three year period in 2012. 
 
This hospital has 100 licensed beds, but started its inpatient operations in 
2008 with 12 operational beds. As of FY2014 year end the number of 
operational beds had increased to 83 beds. Despite a 38% rise in 
operational beds YoY, occupancy increased by 876bps to 69% in 2014. 
 
Al Ain Specialty Hospital has continued to deliver strong growth since 
opening, with 2014 revenues reaching US$58.0m (+20.5% YoY) on 
0.48m patients (+16.8% YoY). Revenue per patient amounted to US$121 
(+3.2% YoY). 
 

3. Brightpoint Royal Women’s Hospital 
Brightpoint Royal Women’s Hospital opened its doors to the first patients 
in July 2014 with the intention to gradually introduce its service capacity 
to market. We commenced operations with outpatient services and plan 
to open our inpatient services in Q1 2015. In the first few months of ‘soft’ 
start outpatient operations, our focus was on ensuring the best possible 
patient experience with priority to initial patient feedback as opposed to 
volume and business ramp-up. This patient feedback has overwhelmingly 
confirmed our strategic direction and positioning of this premium 
women’s hospital, and as a result we have recently launched our 
marketing campaign and expect to commence a higher ramp-up in 
business and patient volumes from 2015 onwards.  
 
During the same period we accelerated the hiring of medical 
professionals with international experience to meet the anticipated growth 
in demand from the Abu Dhabi market, which currently has only one 
maternity hospital. Brightpoint is the first private sector women’s hospital 
in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi. We also plan to seek JCI accreditation for 
Brightpoint and will commence preparations for this in 2015. 
 
Revenues from the initial months of operations reached US$0.93m on 
7,636 out patients. The revenue per patient was US$122.  

 
4. Mohammad bin Zayed City Day Surgery 

NMC Day Surgery in Mohammad bin Zayed City is strategically located 
on the peripheries of Abu Dhabi City close to both the Mussafah 
industrial area and the Khalifa City suburb. In addition to serving the 
growing population in its surroundings it is also a strong referral base to 
existing and upcoming NMC hospitals. 
 
This day surgery opened in July 2013 and subsequently gradually 
ramped up its operations, with FY2014 being the first full year of 
operations. Revenues reached US$5.3m, with a year on year growth of 
490%, on 333% growth in patients compared to 2013 and with the total 
number of patients received rising to 82,372. The revenue per patient 
increased by 36.3% to reach US$65. 

 



 
 

5. Al Ain Medical Centre 
Al Ain Medical Centre opened in December 2014, in line with our 
guidance, and received a few patients from the surrounding areas in the 
city. The centre is located in the Sanaiya area in Al Ain City, an area with 
considerable concentration of businesses and industries with surrounding 
residential areas. This facility will serve the primary healthcare needs of 
people working and living in the area and act as a referral point for 
secondary and tertiary care needs to the NMC Al Ain Specialty Hospital 
located in the city centre. 
 
While the revenue contribution of this facility was immaterial in 2014 
given the opening in December, this facility is expected to deliver 
considerable growth in future periods on full year operations and as we 
ramp up patient flow to the facility from the surrounding area – where 
NMC is a highly recognised and reputable name in the minds of residents 
and the work force.  

 
Dubai Emirate 
NMC treated a total of 0.63m patients in 2014 (+14.9% YoY) across its 
facilities in the Dubai Emirate. As of year-end 2014, the Group had a total 
licensed capacity of 170 hospital beds, a 55% increase year-on-year resulting 
from the addition of NMC General Hospital in DIP in July 2014. 
 

 
6. Dubai Specialty Hospital 

Opened in 2004, the 100 bed Dubai Specialty Hospital is located in the 
growing residential area of Al Nahda on the Dubai-Sharjah border, which 
enables the hospital to take advantage of referrals from NMC’s assets in 
Dubai and our Medical Centre in Sharjah. This location has helped the 
hospital grow significantly since opening. The facility continues to provide 
a wide range of specialties. Dubai Specialty Hospital had its JCI 
accreditation for its quality and service levels renewed for a further three 
year period in 2012.  
 
NMC owns a connected land plot to this hospital which could house a 
building with up to 100 bed additional capacity. Should the growth in 
demand in Dubai from the mandatory insurance adoption require us to 
add further capacity in the Emirate we are well positioned to organically 
scale-up our capacity with limited exposure to the sharp rise in real estate 
prices in recent years. 
 
Revenues reached US$65.6m, with a year on year growth of 17.3%, on 
10.1% growth in patients compared to 2013 and with the total number of 
patients received rising to 0.38m. The revenue per patient increased by 
6.5% to reach US$175. The utilisation of this 100 bed facility, in terms of 
bed occupancy, amounted to 66% during the year compared to 54% in 
2013. 

 
7. Dubai General Hospital 

Dubai General Hospital was established in 1999, this 10 bed facility is 
located in the highly populated area of Deira. The hospital acts as a 
referral centre to the NMC Dubai Specialty Hospital which is a short 
distance away. 
 
Revenues reached US$13.9m, with a year on year growth of 13.7%, on 
8.6% growth in patients compared to 2013 and with the total number of 
patients received rising to 0.21m. The revenue per patient increased by 
4.7% to reach US$65. The utilisation of this 10 bed facility, in terms of 



 
 

bed occupancy, amounted to 45% during the year compared to 44% in 
2013. 

 
8. NMC General Hospital, DIP 

NMC General Hospital in DIP opened in July 2014 and has a licensed 
bed capacity of 60 beds. Initial operations started with outpatient 
services. The first phase of inpatient services will commence in Q1 2015 
and it consists of 30 beds out of the total available capacity in the facility. 
We plan to roll-out the rest of the bed capacity over future periods along 
with the growth in demand for this hospital’s services from the 
surrounding area. We plan to seek JCI accreditation for NMC General 
Hospital, DIP, and will commence preparations for this in 2015. 
 
This asset is located in a strategic region of Dubai within a key 
investment park with substantial presence of large companies, in the 
vicinity of Dubai’s new Al Maktoum Airport, the Dubai Expo area not too 
far from Jebel Ali Port and Freezone.  

 
Revenues from the initial months of operations reached US$2.5m on 
26,044 patients. The revenue per patient was US$96.  

 
9. BR Medical Suites 

BR Medical Suites is a high-end specialty day surgery, located in Dubai 
Healthcare City. It is specifically designed to attract highly experienced 
surgeons from around the world to carry out minimally invasive surgery 
and other highly specialised procedures with limited availability in the 
UAE. Increasingly over the past two years we have worked to diversify 
the business model of this facility to include NMC clinics and allow for 
improved utilisation of the facility. This has had a very positive impact on 
both the top-line and patients figures; however, this growth is partially 
offset by a decline in revenue per patient. The Group acquired BR 
Medical Suites for a consideration of US$9m paid in cash on 1 July 2012. 
 
Revenues reached US$3.6m, with a year on year growth of 40.0%, on 
43.6% growth in patients compared to 2013 and with the total number of 
patients received rising to 13,760. The revenue per patient decreased by 
2.5% to become US$262.  

 
Unlike our healthcare assets, this day surgery is overwhelmingly focused 
on utilisation by external doctors. Consequently, its revenues are 
accounted for net of the external doctor’s share.  

 
 
Sharjah Emirate 
 
10. Sharjah Medical Centre 

This multi specialist medical centre was opened in 1996 and is located on 
the busy commuter route along the Corniche in Sharjah. Since the facility 
was upgraded in 2010 from a clinic to a medical centre offering increased 
specialities such as radiology and minor procedures, revenue has 
increased significantly. The Group also benefits from referrals made from 
this facility to the Dubai Specialty Hospital. Revenues reached 
US$12.8m, with a year on year growth of 24.2%. The number of patients 
reached 0.17m, 12% higher than 2013. The revenue per patient 
increased by 11% to reach US$75.  
 
 
 



 
 

Umm Al Quwain Emirate 
 

11. Sheikh Khalifa General Hospital 
Since Q4 2012 NMC Health has operated and managed on behalf of the 
UAE Ministry of Presidential Affairs this 205-bed hospital in Umm Al 
Quwain. The agreement is based on a five year contract in return for an 
annual management fee based on qualitative metrics. We believe this is 
the first such contract to manage a large Government healthcare facility 
awarded by a Government Department to a local UAE business. This 
demonstrates confidence in NMC’s significant healthcare experience and 
capabilities. 
 

 
Distribution Division 
 
NMC has over the past 40 years amassed one of the largest product 
portfolios in the UAE with 83,635 SKU’s (+17.4% YoY). Our distribution 
division operates across the entire UAE through a network of five 
warehouses and three sales and marketing offices strategically located in the 
major cities and a fleet of 207 vehicles ensuring timely distribution.  
 
Division revenues reached US$338.9m in 2014, 12.9% higher than the 
preceding year. Meanwhile, EBITDA increased by 14.1% to US$34.1m with a 
resulting EBITDA margin of 10.1%. 
 
 
The FMCG segment (+11.7% year on year) remained the largest contributor 
to the distribution division, however, the fastest growth came from the Food 
and Catering (+32.4% year on year) and Education material (+29.3% year on 
year) segments. Pharmaceutical revenue increased by 15.7%, in contrast, 
Scientific Equipment sales declined by 7.3%. 
 
Recent additions to our product portfolio include SuperMax, one of the 
leading disposable razor blade manufacturers in the world and a very well 
established brand in India, Everyuth fairness creams, Anchor toothpaste and 
Kuwait Danish Dairy (KDD) juices. 
 
 
IT 
The Group has operated in recent years with legacy IT systems which, as a 
smaller private company, were appropriate for the needs of the Group. 
Following a review of the Group’s IT requirements, the Board agreed capital 
investment in two new primary Group systems: 
 
a. Hospital Information System (HIS).  

The current HIS system operating within NMC is a home-grown system 
which has been operating successfully over many years. Continuing 
developments in the regulatory framework in the UAE healthcare 
system, as well as additional monitoring and reporting requirements 
which the Group feels that it requires as the business grows, has 
resulted in a decision to implement a new HIS. 
 
The Group has chosen to implement a third party system which is 
already operating successfully within the UAE regulatory structure. The 
new system has been implemented in the three new facilities which 
commenced operations during the year as part of the plan for a phased 
implementation before rolling out in the major facilities. The new system 
requires customisation and integration of certain modules before being 



 
 

rolled out completely, which is expected to be completed by early 2016. 
The Company feels that the new system will be robust enough to deal 
with the demands of significant growth of the business.   
 

b. Enterprise Resources Planning (ERP) financial system.   
It was reported in the 2013 Annual Report that the Company planned to 
implement a new financial IT system in the first half of 2014. 
Implementation of the new system was delayed following challenges in 
the integration and customisation of the modules. The company has put 
in place a new project management team and now expects the 
implementation of the new ERP system to be completed in 2015.  
 

The Company has been aware of the need to improve its IT infrastructure. 
The implementation of new IT systems always presents organisations with a 
significant challenge, and implementing two new primary systems within the 
Group, especially with two divergent business models, will be no different. 
 
However, the management team and the Board realises the importance of 
implementing a new IT infrastructure as the Group prepares for significant 
growth in the coming years. This investment in new technology will help to 
reduce an element of manual intervention and improve reporting and 
therefore the company’s internal control environment. 
 
The company has spent a total amount of US$3.2m as of 31 December 2014 
on the Enterprise Resources Planning (ERP) financial system and the 
Hospital Information System (HIS). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



 
 

Financial review    
NMC Health delivered a strong performance in 2014 at both the Group and 
divisional level. Consolidated Group Revenues increased from US$550.9m in 
FY2013 to US$643.9m in FY2014, a growth of 16.9%. After elimination of 
US$27.2m of intra-group trading revenue, Consolidated Group EBITDA 
improved from US$92.9m in FY2013 to US$102.5m in FY2014, a growth of 
10.2%. 
 
Group Net profit reached US$77.5m in FY2014, yielding Earnings per share 
(EPS) of US$0.412 compared to US$0.367 for the same period in 2013. 
 
Healthcare division 

Revenue in the Healthcare division increased from US$289.3m in FY2013 to 
US$332.2m in FY2014, a growth of 14.8%. EBITDA increased from 
US$81.7m in FY2013 to US$88.2m in FY2014, a growth of 8.0%. EBITDA 
margin declined from 28.2% in FY2013 to 26.6% in FY2014, as a result of the 
losses from the three new facilities opened during the year. 
 
Distribution division 
Within the Distribution division, revenues increased from US$300.2m in 
FY2013 to US$338.9m in FY2014, a growth of 12.9%. EBITDA increased 
from US$29.9m in FY2013 to US$34.1m in FY2014, a growth of 14.1%. 
EBITDA margin was at 10.1% in FY2014 (10.0% during FY2013). 
 
Capital Expenditure 
Capital expenditure incurred for the year was US$112.3m (FY2013: 
US$82.7m). This encompassed US$96.0m on the Group’s capital projects. 
The Group also incurred US$13.5m on equipment required across the 
existing operations. 
 
The Company was able to capitalise certain expenses, in accordance with 
IFRS and the Company’s accounting policies. We expect this to continue in 
relation to costs (for example lease costs) arising during the construction of 
future projects. Although pre-operating expenses were nil in the year to 31 
December 2014, we expect a small level of pre-operating costs which will be 
expensed in the 2015 financial year as a result of the opening of new 
facilities.  
 
As a result of the delays in the opening of certain facilities discussed in 
“Business overview”, additional costs in respect of loan interest and leases 
have been capitalised. Had these facilities opened in line with original plan 
these costs would have been expensed. Other than these items the delays 
have not resulted in an increase in budgeted capital costs. 
 
A table outlining original estimated capital expenditure and other budgeted 
costs for each of our current development projects is set out below. 
 
(All US$m) Budget Actuals 

Project Budgeted 
Capital 
Costs 

Capital 
Costs 

Capitali
sed 
Expens
es (note 
1) 

Accounting 
adjustment  
for lease 
rentals 

Total Capital 
Costs 

Brightpoint Royal 
Women’s Hospital 

70 75.8 6.1 25.5 107.4 

Khalifa City Specialty 
Hospital 

200 95.0 6.8 - 101.9 

NMC Day Surgery 
Centre  

15 10.4 1.1 2.8 14.3 



 
 

NMC General Hospital, 
Dubai Investment Park  

30 27.0 2.5 5.8 35.3 

Total 315 208.2 16.5 34.1 258.9 

 
Notes  
1: Prior to commencement of development of the existing four capital projects, management had 
an expectation that there would be an element of expense incurred before the new facilities were 
opened which would be written off through the Income Statement. Following a review certain of 
these costs have been capitalised in line with the Company’s accounting policies (for example 
lease rent paid and finance costs). The Group expects such costs will continue to be capitalised 
on these projects during the construction phase.  
 
2: The lease in respect of Brightpoint contains a rent free period as well as specified rent 
increases. In line with IFRS and the Company’s accounting policies, the rental cost of the lease 
has been adjusted to appropriately account for these items over the length of the lease. 
Accounting policies stipulate that the total lease value for the full lease period is divided evenly 
over the years.  
 

Apart from the projects mentioned above, the Group had spent US$9m on 
the acquisition of BR Medical Suites during 2012 as part of the projects 
announced during the IPO. 
 
In addition to the above, the Group has spent US$7.7m from its internal funds 
towards the development of the Al Ain Medical Centre which commenced 
operations on 07 December 2014. 
 

The company has spent a total amount of US$3.2m as of 31 December 2014 
on the Enterprise Resources Planning (ERP) financial system and Hospital 
Information System (HIS). 
 
The company has reviewed all significant capital expenditure projects 
including the delayed projects for impairments and have concluded that the 
projects have sufficient headroom and concluded that none of the assets are 
impaired. 
 
Cash 
Net cash inflow from operating activities for the 2014 financial year was 
US$85.7m, compared with US$85.1m for the comparative period in 2013. 
This was mainly due to the improved performance of the Group and effective 
management of working capital, despite an increase in the revenues.  
 
Including funds held on deposit, cash as at 31 December 2014 was at 
US$263.2m compared to US$268.7m at the end of FY2013. The company 
had allocated the funds raised through the IPO as well as through the JP 
Morgan syndicated loan against the capital cost of the five expansion projects 
announced during the IPO. As a result, together with positive operating 
cashflow, the Company is well financed to complete its capital expenditure 
program.  
 
As expected, the Group had a net debt position of US$113.0m at 31 
December 2014 compared with US$63.7m at 31 December 2013. As the 
Group continues with its capital project development program, and the 
Company’s cash is committed to such projects, the level of net debt is 
expected to increase during FY2015. 
 
Movement in net debt 
The movement in cash and the level of capital expenditure have had a 
significant effect on the movement in net debt during the 2014 financial year. 
A summary of the principal drivers is shown as follows: 
  



 
 

Movement of Net Debt 

amounts in US$m 

Total Debt as at 1 January 
2014 

332.4 
Total Cash as at 1 January 
2014 

268.7 
Net Debt as at 1 
January 2014 

63.7 

            

Add:    Add:        

Other Bank facilities & 
refinancing (Net Movement) 

93.7 Operational cash inflow 85.7     

    Finance Incomes 3.6     

    
Other Bank facilities & 
refinancing (Net 
Movement) 

93.7     

            

      183.0     

Less:   Less:       

JP Morgan Loan Repayments 50.0 JPM Loan Repayments 50.0     

  
Additions & Disposals to 
Property 

111.2     

    Finance Costs 13.6     

    Dividends Paid 13.8     

            

      188.6     

            

Total Debt as at 31 December 
2014 

376.1 
Total Cash as at 31 
December 2014 

263.1 
Net Debt as at 31 
December 2014 

113.0 

 
Working Capital  
Working capital for our two operating business divisions is funded differently 
due to the nature of their business models. The Group is able to fund its 
working capital requirements for its Healthcare division from operational cash 
flow, and we do not expect this position to change in the 2015 financial year.  
 
In relation to our Distribution division, the working capital requirement is 
dependent on a number of factors including the timing of receipt of debtors 
and the timing of payment of creditors as well as inventory flow during the 
year and the timing of re-imbursement of promotional expenses agreed with 
our Principals in relation to the sale and marketing of their products. The 
Distribution division requires external working capital facilities throughout the 
year, the level of which is dependent on business seasonality. These working 
capital facilities are arranged through a number of banking providers and in 
general terms the level of working capital required is between 30%-40% of 
the Group’s total debt facilities. 
 
Long term debt facilities 
In 2013, the Group had raised a five year debt facility of up to US$300m 
through a syndicate of lenders led by J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, to refinance 
high interest bearing credit lines.  A total of US$225m has been drawn down 
from this facility to date.  The cost of funds for this facility is 3.0% over one 
month LIBOR.  
 
The total debt of the Group, excluding accounts payable and accruals, was 
US$376.1m as at 31 December 2014 compared to US$332.4m as at 31 
December 2013. 
 



 
 

Finance costs and income 
Total finance costs for 2014 were US$14.4m compared to US$14.3m in 
2013. This was mainly on account of the savings from the JP Morgan facility 
which carried a relatively lower finance charge as the LIBOR rate softened 
during the year. Apart from this the efficient utilization of working capital lines 
also contributed to the savings.  
 
As part of the Group’s capital expenditure programme, borrowing costs of 
US$ 4,068,000 (2013: US$ 4,886,000) net of finance income of US$ NIL 
(2013: US$ 54,000) have been capitalised during the year. The rate used to 
determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was 3.15% 
(2013: 3.40%) which is the effective rate of the borrowings used to finance 
the capital expenditure.  
 
Dividend 
The Board is proposing to continue with its policy of annual dividend 
payments of between 20% and 30% of profit after tax, outlined in the 
Company’s IPO prospectus in 2012. The Board is therefore recommending 
that a final dividend of 5.4 pence per share be paid in cash in respect of the 
year ended 31 December 2014 (FY2013: 4.4 pence per share).  



 
 

 
 

 

NMC Health plc 
 

2014 ANNUAL REPORT 
 
 



18 
 

NMC Health plc 
 

Consolidated financial statements 
 

Year ended 31 December 2014 



19 
 

 

NMC Health plc 
  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 2014 
  2014 2013 

 Notes US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 

    

Revenue 5 643,931 550,878 
 Direct costs 

 
6 
 

(434,725) 
 

(365,336) 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

GROSS PROFIT 

 
 209,206 185,542 

     

General and administrative expenses 
 

6 
 

(137,188) 
 

(119,562) 
       
 

Other income 
 

7 
 

30,440 26,960 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

    
PROFIT FROM OPERATION BEFORE DEPRECIATION    

AND  IMPAIRMENT  102,458 92,940 

    

Depreciation 
 

15 
 

(14,050) 
 

(9,663) 
 
 

Impairment of property and equipment 
 

15 - 
 

(210) 
 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS  

 
 88,408 83,067 

    

Finance costs 
 

8 
 

(14,497) 
 

(14,344) 
 

Finance income 
 

9 
 

3,623 3,814 
 Unamortised finance fees written off 

 
24 - 

 
(3,394) 

   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE TAX 
 

10 
 

77,534 69,143 

    

Tax 
 

13 
 

- 
 

           -  
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 
 

 77,534 69,143 

  ========== ========== 

Other comprehensive income 
 

 - 
 

             -  
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 
 

 77,534 69,143 

  ========== ========== 

Total profit and comprehensive income attributable to: 
 

   

  Equity holders of the Parent 
 

 76,566        68,165  
   Non-controlling interests 

 
 968             978  

 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total profit and comprehensive income for the year 
 

 77,534        69,143  
 

  ========== ========== 

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the 
 

   

  equity holders of the Parent: 
 

   

    

Basic and diluted (US$) 
 

14 
 

0.412 0.367 
 

  ======= ======= 

 
These results relate to continuing operations of the Group. There are no discontinued operations in the current and 
prior year. 
 
 
The attached notes 1 to 34 form part of the consolidated financial statements. 



20 
 

 

NMC Health plc 
  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 December 2014 
    

  2014 2013 

 Notes US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
ASSETS 

 
   

Non-current assets 

 
   

Property and equipment 
 

15 
 

368,357 273,792 

Intangible assets 
 

16 
 

4,236 1,016 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

  372,593 274,808 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Current assets 

 
   

Inventories 
 

17 
 

110,209 94,123 
 Accounts receivable and prepayments 

 
18 

 

196,569 168,382 
 Amounts due from related parties 

 
27 7,985 9,254 

 Bank deposits 
 

19 
 

183,577 193,366 
 Bank balances and cash 

 
19 

 

79,592 75,329 
   -------------------- -------------------- 

  577,932 540,454 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

TOTAL ASSETS 
 

 950,525 815,262 
   ========== ========== 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
 

   

Equity 
 

   

Share capital 
 

20 
 

29,566 29,566 
 Share premium 

 
 179,152 179,152 

 Group restructuring reserve 
 

21 
 

(10,001) 
 

(10,001) 
 Retained earnings 

 
22 

 

250,306 187,519 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent 
 

 449,023 386,236 
     

Non-controlling interests 
 

 4,004 2,915 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total equity 
 

 453,027 389,151 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Non-current liabilities 
 

   

Term loans 
 

24 
 

114,457 161,845 
 Employees' end of service benefits 

 
25 

 

12,450 10,036 
 Other payable 

 

 21 
 

408 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

  126,928 172,289 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Current liabilities 

 
   

Accounts payable and accruals 
 

26 
 

98,044 76,087 
 Amounts due to related parties 

 
27 8,380 5,079 

 Bank overdrafts and other short term borrowings 
 

19 
 

169,607 82,238 
 Term loans 

 
24 

 

92,055 88,355 
 Employees' end of service benefits 

 
25 

 

2,484 2,063 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

  370,570 253,822 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total liabilities 

 
 497,498 426,111 

   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

 
 950,525 815,262 

   ========== ========== 
The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 February 2015 and were signed  
on its behalf by 
 
 
Dr B. R. Shetty          Mr. Suresh Krishnamoorthy 
Executive Vice Chairman & Chief Executive Officer          Chief Financial Officer 
The attached notes 1 to 34 form part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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NMC Health plc 
  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 31 December 2014 
 
 

 
 

        

 

 
 

Share    

capital 

US$ ‘000 

Share  

premium 

US$ ‘000 

Group 

restructuring 

reserve 

US$ ‘000 

Retained 

earnings 

US$ ‘000 

Total  

US$ ‘000 

Non- 

controlling 

interests  

US$ ‘000 

Total  

US$ ‘000 

        

Balance as at 1 January 2013 

 

29,566 

 

179,152 

 

(10,001) 

 
130,952 329,669 1,934 

 

331,603 

         

Total comprehensive income for the year 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

68,165 

 

68,165 

 

978 

 

69,143 

 Dividend (note  23) 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

(11,598) 

 

(11,598) 

 

- 

 

(11,598) 

 Contribution by non-controlling interest - 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

3 

 

3 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Balance as at 31 December 2013 

 

29,566 

 

179,152 

 

(10,001) 

 

187,519 

 

386,236 

 

2,915 

 
389,151 

 

 

       

Total comprehensive income for the year 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 
76,566 76,566 968 77,534 

Dividend (note  23) 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 
(13,846) (13,846) 

 

- 

 

(13,846) 

 Contribution by non-controlling interest - 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

121 

 
121 

Share based payments (note 28) - 

 

- 

 

- 

 

67 

 

67 

 

- 

 
67 

 ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Balance as at 31 December 2014 

 
29,566 179,152 (10,001) 250,306 449,023 4,004 453,027 

 

 

========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 

 
 
The attached notes 1 to 34 form part of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 



22 
 

NMC Health plc 
  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 31 December 2014 
 
  2014 2013 

 Notes US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 

   

Profit for the year before  tax 
 

 77,534 69,143 
 Adjustments for: 

 
   

  Depreciation 
 

15 
 

14,050 
 

9,663 
   Impairment of property and equipment 

 
15 - 210 

   Employees’ end of service benefits 25 
 

3,492 2,362 
   Finance income 

 
9 
 

(3,623) 
 

(3,814) 
   Finance costs 

 
8 
 

14,497 14,344 
   Loss on disposal of property and equipment 

 
 224 383 

   Unamortised finance fees written off 
 

24 - 3,394 
   Share based payments expense 

 
28 88 - 

   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

  106,262 95,685 
 Working capital changes: 

 
   

  Inventories 
 

 (16,086) 
 

(21,665) 
   Accounts receivable and prepayments 

 
 (28,080) 11,582 

   Amounts due from related parties 
 

 1,269 
 

(7,653) 
   Accounts payable and accruals 

 
 19,673 2,809 

   Amounts due to related parties 
 

 3,301 4,956 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Net cash from operations 
 

 86,339 85,714 
 Employees’ end of service benefits paid 

 
25 

 

(657) 
 

(643) 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Net cash from operating activities 
 

 85,682 85,071 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
 

   

Purchase of property and equipment 
 

 (111,245) (78,616) 
 Purchase of intangible assets  16 (22) - 
 Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 

 
 256 257 

 Bank deposits maturing in over 3 months 
 

 66,171 (12,251) 
 Restricted cash 

 
 14,150 

 
(22,732) 

 Finance income received 
 

 3,637 5,255 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Net cash (used in) investing activities 
 

 (27,053) (108,087) 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

 
   

New term loans and draw-downs 
 

 263,594 524,465 
 Repayment of term loans 

 
 (307,282) 

 
(500,627) 

 Receipts of short term borrowings 
 

 383,705 275,347 
 Repayment of short term borrowings 

 
 (314,013) (252,768) 

 Finance costs paid 
 

 (13,669) (14,532) 

Dividend paid to shareholders 
 

23 (13,846) 
 

(11,598) 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Net cash (used in) /  from  financing activities 
 

 (1,511) 20,287 
   ----------------------- ----------------------- 

INCREASE / (DECREASE)  IN CASH AND CASH     

EQUIVALENTS  57,118 
 

(2,729) 
     

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 
 

 79,201 81,930 
   ---------------------- ----------------------- 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 

 
19 

 
136,319 79,201 

   ======== ========== 

 
The attached notes 1 to 34 form part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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NMC Health plc 
  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
At 31 December 2014 
 
 
 
1 CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 
NMC Health plc (the “Company” or “Parent’’) is a Company which was incorporated in England and Wales 
on 20 July 2011. The Company is a public limited company operating solely in the United Arab Emirates 
(“UAE”).  The address of the registered office of the Company is 23 Hanover Square London, W1S 1JB.  
The registered number of the Company is 7712220. The Company’s immediate and ultimate controlling 
party is a group of three individuals (H.E. Saeed Bin Butti, Dr BR Shetty and Mr Khalifa Bin Butti) who are 
all shareholders and of whom one is a director of the company and who together have the ability to control 
the company. 
 
The Parent and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are engaged in providing professional medical 
services, wholesale of pharmaceutical goods, medical equipment, cosmetics, food and IT products and 
services in the United Arab Emirates. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 were 
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 February 2015 and the consolidated statement of 
financial position was signed on the Board’s behalf by Dr BR Shetty and Mr Suresh Krishnamoorthy. 
 
 
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union as they apply to the financial statements of the Group 
for the year ended 31 December 2014 and applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.  
 
The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for 
derivative financial instrument that have been measured at fair value.  The principal accounting policies 
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all periods presented. 
 
Functional and reporting currency 
The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is UAE Dirham. The reporting currency of the 
Group is United States of America Dollar (US$) as this is a more globally recognised currency. The UAE 
Dirham is pegged against the US Dollar at a rate of 3.673 per US Dollar. 
 
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000) except when otherwise indicated. 
 
Going concern 
 
The Group has two diverse operating divisions, Healthcare and Distribution, both of which operate in a 
growing market. 
 
The directors have undertaken an assessment of the future prospects of the Group and the wider risks 
that the Group is exposed to. In its assessment of whether the Group should adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing its financial statements, the directors have considered the adequacy of financial 
resources in order to manage its business risks successfully, together with other areas of potential risk 
such as regulatory, insurance and legal risks. 
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NMC Health plc 
  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
At 31 December 2014 
 
 
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION continued 
 
The Group has considerable financial resources including banking arrangements through a spread of 
local and international banking groups and utilizes short and medium term working capital facilities to 
optimise business funding. Debt covenants are reviewed by the board each month. The Board believes 
that the level of cash in the Group, the spread of bankers and debt facilities mitigates the financing risks 
that the Group faces from both its capital expenditure program and in relation to working capital 
requirements. 
 
Group delivered a strong performance in 2014. Both the Healthcare and Distribution divisions have 
continued their positive growth in revenue during 2014. Net profit and EBITDA of both healthcare and 
distribution divisions have increased in 2014. EBITDA margin of Distribution is almost same as last year 
whereas for Healthcare it decreased slightly which is due to opening of new facilities during the year.  The 
directors have reviewed the business plan for 2015 and the five year cash flow, together with growth 
forecasts for the healthcare sector in UAE. The directors consider the Group’s future forecasts to be 
reasonable.  
  
The directors have not identified any other matters that may impact the viability of the Group in the 
medium term and therefore they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
 
2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries 
as at 31 December 2014. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:  

  Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee)  

  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee  

  The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns  
 
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this 
presumption and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the 
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 
including:  

  The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee  

  Rights arising from other contractual arrangements  

  The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights  
 
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins 
when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the 
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the 
year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the 
date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.  
 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity 
holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. 
All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.  
 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction.  
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NMC Health plc 
  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
At 31 December 2014 
 
 
2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION continued 
 
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), 
liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value. 

 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its principal 
subsidiaries listed below: 
 
 Percentage of  holdings 
 31 December 31 December 
 2014 2013 
Direct subsidiaries: 
 

  
  NMC Holding Co LLC 
 

100% 
 

100% 
   NMC Health Holdco Limited 

 
100% 

 
100% 

    
Indirect subsidiaries: 
 

  
  NMC Healthcare LLC 
 

100% 
 

100% 
   New Pharmacy Company Limited 

 
99% 

 
99% 

   New Medical Centre Hospital LLC-Dubai 
 

99% 
 

99% 
   NMC Specialty Hospital LLC-Abu Dhabi 

 
99% 

 
99% 

   NMC Specialty Hospital LLC- Dubai 
 

99% 99% 
  New Medical Centre Trading LLC 
 

99% 
 

99% 
   Bait Al Shifaa Pharmacy LLC-Dubai 

 
99% 

 
99% 

   New Medical Centre LLC-Sharjah 
 

99% 
 

99% 
   New Medical Centre Specialty Hospital LLC-Al Ain 

 
99% 

 
99% 

   Reliance Information Technology LLC 
 

99% 
 

99% 
   BR Medical Suites FZ LLC 

 
100% 100% 

  Brightpoint Hospital LLC 
 

99% 99% 
  NMC Day Surgery Centre LLC 
 

99% 99% 
  NMC Dubai Investment Park LLC 
 

99% 99% 
 
All the above subsidiaries are incorporated in the UAE except for NMC Health Holdco Limited, which is 
incorporated in England and Wales. 
 
2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES  
 
The key assumptions concerning the future, key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements 
at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 

 
Significant estimates 
 
Impairment of inventories 
Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or 
obsolete, an estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this 
estimation is performed on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which 
are old or obsolete, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and 
the Group’s policy for inventory provisioning. The gross carrying amount of inventories at 31 December 
2014 was US$ 111,597,000 (2013: US$ 94,839,000) and the provision for old and obsolete items at 
31 December 2014 was US$ 1,388,000 (2013: US$ 716,000).  

 
Impairment of accounts receivable  
An estimate of the collectible amount of trade accounts receivable is made when collection of the full 
amount is no longer probable.  For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an 
individual basis.  Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed  
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NMC Health plc 
  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
At 31 December 2014 
 
 
2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES continued 
 
collectively and a provision applied according to the length of time past due, based on historical recovery 
rates. 
 
A majority of the receivables that are past due but not impaired are from insurance companies and 
government-linked entities in the United Arab Emirates which are inherently slow payers due to their long 
invoice verification and approval of payment procedures. Payments continue to be received from these 
customers and accordingly the risk of non-recoverability is considered to be low. 
 
Gross trade accounts receivable at 31 December 2014 were US$ 177,203,000 (2013: US$ 154,234,000) 
and the provision for doubtful debts at 31 December 2014 was US$ 8,996,000 (2013: US$ 8,241,000).  
Any difference between the amounts actually collected in future periods and the amounts expected will be 
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Significant judgements 
 

Functional currency 
The UAE Dirham is determined to be the functional currency of the Company. 
 

Judgement has been used to determine the functional currency of the Company that most appropriately 
represents the economic effects of the Company’s transactions, events and conditions.  
 

The primary economic environment influencing the Company’s income (dividends) is the UAE and the 
effect of the local environment is limited to expenses incurred within the UK. The ability of the Company to 
meet its obligations and pay dividends to its shareholders is dependent on the economy of, and the 
operation of its subsidiaries in, the UAE.  
 
Assets held in the name of the previous shareholder 
In accordance with local laws, except in some specific locations in the UAE the registered title of land and 
buildings must be held in the name of a UAE national. As a result, land and buildings of the Group are 
legally registered in the name of shareholders or previous shareholders of the Group. As at 31 December 
2014 certain land and buildings with a carrying amount of US$ 9,321,000 (2013: US$ 9,648,000) are held 
in the name of a previous shareholder for the beneficial interest of the Group. As the beneficial interest of 
such land and buildings resides with the Group, these assets are recorded within land and buildings in the 
Group consolidated financial statements. The directors take into account this local legal registration 
requirement, the Group's entitlement to the beneficial interest arising from these assets, as well as other 
general business factors, when considering whether such assets are impaired. Subsequent to year end  
US$ 5,177,000 of the land and buildings which were held in the name of a previous shareholder for the 
beneficial interest of the Group were transferred into the name of a current UAE national shareholder. 
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Leases for buildings and land  
Generally our hospitals, day patient medical centres and hospital projects under development are located 
on land and in buildings which are leased. As at 31 December 2014, the majority of the lease periods 
range from five to twenty seven years apart from the leases for New Medical Centre Hospital LLC-Dubai 
(‘Dubai General Hospital) and the warehouse facilities, which had leases which are renewable on an 
annual basis with a total value of US$ 1,015,000 included within property, and equipment as at 31 
December 2014. If any such leases are terminated or expire and are not renewed, the Group could lose 
the investment, including the hospital buildings and the warehouses on the leased sites which could have 
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. The directors have 
considered the following facts in determining the likelihood that these leases will be renewed: 

 Whilst some leases can be for long term durations, it is not unusual and can often be common 
practice throughout all of the emirates in the United Arab Emirates for landlords to lease land 
and buildings to companies on annually renewable leases of one year terms and for these 
leases to be renewed automatically. Throughout the Group’s 41 year history it has never had 
a lease cancelled or not renewed, and the Group enjoys a high degree of respect in the 
region and believes that it maintains strong relationships with the landlords.  

 Both the Dubai General Hospital and the warehouse facilities have been occupied by the 
Group on annually renewable leases, for a period of more than 14 years and each year these 
leases have been automatically renewed. 

 The warehouse facilities have been built by the Group on land leased from government 
bodies in the Emirates of Dubai and Abu Dhabi on the back of the policies of these 
governments to attract investment in warehousing in the United Arab Emirates. 

2.4 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
New and amended standards and interpretations: 
The Group applied for the first time certain standards and amendments which are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. 

The amendments to IFRS, which are effective as of 1 January 2014 and are described in more detail 
below, have no impact on the Group.  
 
Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27)  
These amendments provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the 
definition of an investment entity under IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. The exception to 
consolidation requires investment entities to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss. 
These amendments have no impact on the Group, since none of the entities in the Group qualifies to be 
an investment entity under IFRS 10.  
 
 
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IAS 32  
These amendments clarify the meaning of ’currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off’ and the 
criteria for non-simultaneous settlement mechanisms of clearing houses to qualify for offsetting. These 
amendments have no impact on the Group, since none of the entities in the Group has any offsetting 
arrangements.  
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Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting – Amendments to IAS 39  
These amendments provide relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a derivative 
designated as a hedging instrument meets certain criteria and retrospective application is required. These 
amendments have no impact on the Group as the Group has no derivatives as of 31 December 2014.  
 
Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets-Amendments to IAS 36 
These amendments remove the unintended consequences of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement on the 
disclosures required under IAS 36 Impairment of Assets. In addition, these amendments require 
disclosure of the recoverable amounts for the assets or cash–generating units (CGUs) for which an 
impairment loss has been recognised or reversed during the period. These amendments have no impact 
on the Group as the Group has not recognised or reversed any impairment loss during the period. 
 
IFRIC 21 Levies  
IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognises a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment, as 
identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. For a levy that is triggered upon reaching a minimum 
threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liability should be anticipated before the specified minimum 
threshold is reached. This interpretation has no impact on the Group.  
 
 
Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle  
In the 2010-2012 annual improvements cycle, the IASB issued seven amendments to six standards, 
which included an amendment to IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The amendment to IFRS 13 is 
effective immediately and, thus, for periods beginning at 1 January 2014, and it clarifies in the Basis for 
Conclusions that short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest rates can be measured at 
invoice amounts when the effect of discounting is immaterial. This amendment is relevant to the Group as 
the Group has determined that the effect of discounting is immaterial and so short term receivables and 
payables have been measured at invoiced amounts.     
 

Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle  
In the 2011-2013 annual improvements cycle, the IASB issued four amendments to four standards, which 
included an amendment to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. This 
amendment to IFRS 1 has no impact on the Group, since the Group is an existing IFRS preparer.  

 
3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 
Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, less discounts and rebates and 
talking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duties. 
 
Revenue streams include clinic service revenues, sale of goods - Pharmacy, sale of goods –Distribution, 
Healthcare management fees and revenue from BR Medical Suites.  

The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting 
as principal or agent. The Group determines it is acting as principal when it has exposure to the significant 
risks and rewards associated with the transaction and measures revenue as the gross amount received or 
receivable. When the Group does not retain the significant risks and rewards, it deems that it is acting as 
an agent and measures revenue as the amount received or receivable in return for its performance under 
the contract and excludes any amounts collected on behalf of a third party.  
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Clinic service revenues: 
Clinic service revenues represent the revenue which NMC generates from the provision of either inpatient 
or outpatient medical services. The group primarily receives clinic service revenues from patients’ private 
/medical insurance schemes. Clinic revenues are recognised when, and to the extent that, performance of 
a medical service occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  
NMC has determined that it is acting as Principal in these arrangements as it has the responsibility for 
providing the medical services to the patient, it sets the prices for the clinic services which are provided, it 
bears the credit risk and it bears the risk of providing the medical service.  

Sale of Goods - Pharmacy: 
The sales of goods from pharmacy relates to the sale of pharmaceutical and other products from hospitals 
and pharmacies. Whilst the Group does not establish the prices for the pharmaceutical products sold as 
both the purchase and selling prices for all pharmaceutical products are fixed by the Ministry of Health, 
NMC has determined that it is acting as Principal in respect of these sales as it provides the goods for 
sale, it bears the inventory risk, and it bears the credit risk from customers. Revenue from the sale of 
goods – Pharmacy is therefore recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods have passed to the buyer. Significant risk for retail goods is passed to the buyer at the point of sale. 
 
Sale of Goods - Distribution: 
Where the Group bears the inventory risk and the customer credit risk and has the ability to set the prices 
for the products sold then the Group has determined that it is acting as Principal.  Revenue from the sale 
of goods is therefore recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have 
passed to the buyer. Significant risk for retail goods is passed to the buyer for wholesale goods at the time 
of delivery. 
 
For agency relationships, the revenue earned is measured as the Group’s share of the revenue, as 
specified in the contract. Any amounts collected on behalf of the third party are excluded from revenue 
and are recorded as a payable. There are currently no material agency relationships. 
 
Healthcare Management fees: 
Management fees represent fees earned for managing a hospital. Management fees are recognised when 
the services under the contract are performed, and the service level criteria have been met, and are 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, in line with the terms of the 
management contract. 
 
Revenue from BR Medical Suites: 
BR Medical Suites enters into contracts with doctors whereby these doctors are employed to perform 
certain procedures or run outpatient services using the facilities at BR Medical Suites. In return the 
doctors obtain a share of the revenues that are generated from these facilities. Each contractual 
arrangement with individual doctors is assessed against specific criteria to determine whether the Group 
is acting as principal or agent in the arrangement with these doctors. 
 
Other income 
Other income comprises revenue from suppliers for the reimbursement of advertising and promotion costs 
incurred by the Group.  Revenue is recognised following formal acceptance of the Group's reimbursement 
claims by suppliers and is measured at the confirmed amount receivable. 
 

Interest income 
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income or expense is recorded using the 
effective interest rate (EIR), which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. Interest income is included in finance income in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
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Rebates from Suppliers    
The Distribution business receives rebates in the ordinary course of business from a number of its 
suppliers of pharmaceutical products, in accordance with contractual arrangements in place with specific 
suppliers. Rebates are accounted for once approval has been received from the supplier following the 
negotiations which have taken place with them.  Rebates receivable are accounted for as a deduction 
from the cost of purchasing pharmaceutical goods, once the rebate has been approved by the supplier on 
the basis under IAS 18 that the probability of inflow is not sufficiently certain and the amounts cannot be 
reliably measured until that point. When rebates have been agreed in advance, for example when it has 
been agreed that a certain rebate will be applied to the purchase of specific goods for a set period of time 
rather than just to a specific one off purchase, then the rebate is recognised as a reduction in the 
purchase price as soon as the goods are purchased. When rebates are offered based upon the volume 
purchased and it is probable that the rebate will be earned and the amount can be estimated reliably, then 
the discount is recognised as a reduction in the purchase price when the goods are purchased and the 
assessment is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Rebates receivable are accounted for on a net basis, being 
set off against the trade payables to which they relate, as they are a reduction in the amount we owe to 
our suppliers in respect of pharmaceutical products purchased. 
 
Business combinations and goodwill 
The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The 
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in 
a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair 
value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through 
profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset 
or liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other 
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its 
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 
 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred 
and the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration 
transferred, the gain is recognised in profit or loss.  
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquire are assigned to those units.  
 
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is 
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is 
measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating 
unit retained.  
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Business combinations and goodwill continued 
Business combinations involving entities under common control 
Business combinations involving entities under common control do not fall under the scope of IFRS 3 
Revised ‘Business Combinations’. The transfer of companies under common control is therefore 
accounted for using the pooling of interests method. Under this method there is no requirement to fair 
value the assets and liabilities of the transferred entities and hence no goodwill is created upon transfer of 
ownership as the balances remain at book value. The consolidated income statement, consolidated 
balance sheet and the consolidated statement of cash flows comparative figures are also presented as if 
the Company had been the parent undertaking of the Group throughout the current and previous year. 
The consolidated financial statements are therefore presented as though the Group had always existed in 
its current form. 
 
Restructuring reserve 
The group restructuring reserve arises on consolidation under the pooling of interests method used for the 
group restructuring which took place on 1 April 2012. This represents the difference between the share 
capital of NMC Healthcare LLC, the previous parent company of the Group, and the carrying amount of 
the investment in that company at the date of the restructure. This reserve is non-distributable. 
 
Property and equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on all property and equipment other than land and capital work in progress, at 
the following rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a straight line basis over its expected 
useful life: 
 
 Hospital building 6% 
 Buildings 6% 
 Leasehold improvements 20% 
 Motor vehicles 20% 
 Furniture, fixtures and fittings 12.5% - 20% 
 Medical equipment 10% - 25% 
 
The carrying amounts of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where 
the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their 
recoverable amount, being the higher of their fair value less cost to sell and their value in use. 
 
Capital work in progress is stated at cost and is not depreciated. Lease costs in respect of capital work in 
progress are capitalised within capital work in progress during the period up until it is commissioned. 
When commissioned, capital work in progress is transferred to the appropriate property and equipment 
asset category and depreciated in accordance with the Group’s policies. The carrying amounts of capital  
work in progress are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed 
the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount. 
 
Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property and equipment that is accounted for 
separately is capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off.  Other 
subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of 
property and equipment. All other expenditure is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income as the expense is incurred. 
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Intangible assets  
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not 
capitalised and the related expenditure is reflected in consolidated statement of comprehensive income in 
the period in which the expenditure is incurred.  
 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.  
 
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the 
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each 
reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as 
appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible 
assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of consolidated comprehensive income in the expense 
category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets.  
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, either 
individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to 
determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from 
indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.  
 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised.  
 
Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of an asset are capitalised 
as part of the cost of the asset until the asset is commissioned for use. Borrowing costs in respect of 
completed assets or not attributable to assets are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Pre-operating expenses 
Pre-operating expenses are the expenses incurred prior to start of operations of a new business unit. 
These are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year in which they 
occur. 
 
Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value after making due allowance for any 
obsolete or slow moving items.  Costs are those expenses incurred in bringing each product to its present 
location and condition and are determined on a weighted average basis.  Net realisable value is based on 
estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred to disposal. 
 
Accounts receivable 
Accounts receivable are stated at original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectible amounts. 
Accounts receivable with no stated interest rates are measured at invoiced amounts when the effect of 
discounting is immaterial. An estimate of doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no 
longer probable.  Bad debts are written off when there is no possibility of recovery. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in 
hand, bank balances and short term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. 
 
Equity 
The Group has issued ordinary shares that are classified as equity. The difference between the issue 
price and the par value of ordinary share capital is allocated to share premium. The transaction costs 
incurred for the share issue are accounted for as a deduction from share premium, net of any related 
income tax benefit, to the extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the share issue that 
would otherwise have been avoided. 
 
 
Accounts payable and accruals 
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received whether 
billed by the supplier or not. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within 
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as 
non-current liabilities. Accounts payable are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has an obligation (legal or constructive) arising from a past 
event, and the costs to settle the obligation are both probable and able to be reliably measured. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
risks specific to the obligation. Increases in provisions due to the passage of time are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement within ‘Finance costs’. 
 
Term loans 
Term loans are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable 
transaction costs. After initial recognition, term loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. Interest on term loans is charged as an expense as it accrues, with unpaid 
amounts included in “accounts payable and accruals”. 
 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in 
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
 
Employees’ end of service benefits  
The Group operates an un-funded post-employment benefit plan (employees’ end of service benefits) for 
its expatriate employees in UAE, in accordance with the labour laws of the UAE. The entitlement to these 
benefits is based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a 
minimum service period. Payment for employees’ end of service benefits is made when an employee 
leaves, resigns or completes his service.  
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The cost of providing benefits under the post-employment benefit plan is determined using the projected 
unit credit method. Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, are recognized 
immediately in the statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings 
through other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not 
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 
 
Interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the defined benefit liability. The rate used to discount 
the end of service benefit obligation is determined by reference to market yields at the balance sheet date 
on high quality corporate bonds. The current and non-current portions of the provision relating to 
employees’ end of service benefits are separately disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.  
 
The Group recognises the following changes in the employees’ end of service benefits under ‘direct costs’ 
and ‘general and  administrative expenses’ in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income: 
 
● Service costs comprising current service costs 
● Interest expense  
 
With respect to its UAE national employees, the Group makes contributions to the relevant UAE 
Government pension scheme calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The obligations under 
these schemes are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due. 
 
  
Share based payments 
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees (including executive directors) are measured at the 
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.  The fair value excludes the effect of non-market-
based vesting conditions.  Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-
based transactions are set out in note 28 
 
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will 
eventually vest. At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments 
expected to vest as a result of the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. The impact of the 
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment 
to equity reserves / other payables. 
 
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions for 
which vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition. These are treated as vesting 
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other 
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. 
 
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
diluted earnings per share (see note 14).  
 
Foreign currencies 
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in UAE Dirhams at the exchange rate ruling at the date of 
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate 
of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.  All differences are taken to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
Translation of foreign operations 
On consolidation the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into US Dollars at the rate of 
exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their income statements are translated at exchange rates  
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prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Since the UAE Dirham is pegged against the US Dollar a single 
rate of 3.673 per US Dollar is used to translate assets and liabilities and balances in the income statement. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
The Group used derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps and caps to hedge its interest 
rate risks. Such derivative financial instruments were initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a 
contract is entered into and were subsequently remeasured at fair value. The fair value of interest rate 
swaps were determined by reference to market values for similar instruments. Derivatives with positive 
market values (unrealised gains) were included in other assets and derivatives with negative market values 
(unrealised losses) were included in other liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position. Any 
gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives during the year were taken directly to profit 
or loss. Whilst the policy of the Group is not to apply hedge accounting, the derivatives were economic 
hedges of liabilities in issue and it is therefore considered appropriate to show the changes in fair value of 
derivatives in finance costs in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Fair value measurement 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on 
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

 
 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 
liability 

 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group. 
 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market 
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
 
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use 
of unobservable inputs. 
 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:  
 

  Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities  

  Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable  

  Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable  

 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period.  
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
An assessment is made at each consolidated statement of financial position date to determine whether there 
is objective evidence that a specific financial asset may be impaired. If such evidence exists, any impairment 
loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Impairment is determined as 
the difference between carrying value and the present value of future cash flows discounted at the current 
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. 
 
Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at inception date, whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific 
asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly 
specified in an arrangement. Operating leases are recognised as an operating expense in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis. 
 
4 ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE 
 
The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the 
Group’s financial statements are listed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, 
when they become effective. 
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising 
from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a  
customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to measuring and recognising 
revenue. The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue 
recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently 
assessing the impact of IFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date. 

 
The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the 
Group’s financial statements and not expected to have any impact on the Group are as follows: 
 

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

 IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

 Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions 

 Annual improvements 2010-2012 Cycle: 
 

 IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
 IFRS 8 Operating Segments 
 IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets 
 IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures 

 

 Annual improvements 2011-2013 Cycle: 
 

 IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 
 IAS 40 Investment Property 

 
 Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests 

 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation 

 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants 

 Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and 
services and has two reportable segments as follows: 
 

 The healthcare segment is engaged in providing professional medical services, comprising 
diagnostic services, in and outpatient clinics and retailing of pharmaceutical goods. It also 
includes the provision of management services in respect of a hospital.  
 

 The distribution & services segment is engaged in wholesale trading of pharmaceutical goods, 
medical equipment, cosmetics and food. 

 
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments. 
 
Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making 
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated  
based on EBITDA and profit or loss. These are measured consistently with EBITDA and profit or loss  
excluding finance income and group administrative expenses, unallocated depreciation and unallocated 
other income, in the consolidated financial statements. From the current year, the Group has started 
allocating its finance costs and IT costs to its segments. 
 
Group financing and investments (including finance costs and finance income) are managed on a group 
basis and are not allocated to operating segments.  
 
Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to 
transactions with third parties. 
 
The following tables present revenue and profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the 
Group‘s business segments for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013. 
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION continued 
 
 

Healthcare 

Distribution 
and 

services 
Total 

segments 

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations Consolidated 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 

Year ended 31 December 2014 

Revenue      
External customers 
 

327,714 316,217 643,931 - 
 

643,931 
Inter segment 
 

4,484 22,675 27,159 (27,159) 
 

- 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 
 

332,198 338,892 671,090 (27,159) 643,931 
 
 

========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 
(Expenses) / Income 
 

     
Depreciation 
 

(11,215) (2,349) (13,564) 
 

(486) 
 

(14,050) 
 Finance costs 

 
(3,927) 

 
(3,396) 

 
(7,323) 

 
(7,174) (14,497) 

       
Segment EBITDA 
 

88,211 34,121 122,332 (19,874) 102,458 
 ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 
Segment profit 
 

73,070 28,376 101,446 (23,912) 
 

77,534 
 ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 
Segment assets 
 

459,745 208,935 668,680 281,845 950,525 
 ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 
Segment liabilities 
 

50,497 58,300 108,797 388,701 497,498 
 ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 
Other disclosures 
 

     
Capital expenditure 
 

108,809 3,005 111,814 501 112,315 
 
 
 

========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 
 
Year ended 31 December 2013 

Revenue      
External customers 
 

285,043 
 

265,835 
 

550,878 
 

- 
 

550,878 
 Inter segment 

 
4,252 

 
34,341 

 
38,593 

 
(38,593) 

 
              -  

  ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Total 
 

289,295 
 

300,176 
 

589,471 
 

(38,593) 
 

550,878 
  

 
========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 

(Expenses) / Income 
 

     
Depreciation 
 

(7,120) 
 

(2,092) 
 

(9,212) 
 

(451) 
 

(9,663) 
 Finance costs 

 
-  
 

-  
 

-  
 

(14,344) 
 

(14,344) 
       

Segment EBITDA 
 

81,668 29,908 111,576 (18,636) 92,940 
 ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 
Segment profit 
 

74,339 
 

27,815 
 

102,154 
 

(33,011) 
 

69,143 
  ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 

Segment assets 
 

338,341 190,407 
 

528,748 
 

286,514 815,262 
  ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 

Segment liabilities 
 

33,818 
 

47,028 
 

80,846 
 

345,265 
 

426,111 
  ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 

Other disclosures 
 

     
Capital expenditure 
 

80,845 
 

1,220 
 

82,065 
 

587 
 

82,652 
  

 
 

========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 
 
Inter-segment revenues are eliminated upon consolidation and reflected in the ‘adjustments and 
eliminations’ column. All other adjustments and eliminations are part of detailed reconciliations presented 
further below. 
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION continued 
 
Adjustments and eliminations 
Finance income and group overheads are not allocated to individual segments as they are managed on a 
group basis. 
 

Term loans, bank overdraft and other short term borrowings and certain other assets and liabilities are 
substantially not allocated to segments as they are also managed on a group basis. 
 

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property and equipment.  
 
From current year the Group started allocating finance cost and IT cost to its subsidiaries. Prior period 
comparatives have not been restated, however, segment EBITDA and segment profit for the current 
period, had these costs not been allocated, are presented in the table below: 
 

Healthcare 

Distribution 
and 

services 
Total 

segments 

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations Consolidated 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 

Year ended 31 December 2014 

(Expenses) / Income 
 

     
Depreciation 
 

(11,215) (2,349) (13,564) 
 

(486) 
 

(14,050) 
 Finance costs 

 
- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(14,497) (14,497) 
  ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 

      
Segment EBITDA 
 

89,138 34,416 123,554 (21,096) 102,458 
 ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 
Segment profit 
 

77,924 32,067 109,991 (32,457) 
 

77,534 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 
   
Reconciliation of Segment  EBITDA to Group profit 
 

  
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Segment EBITDA 
 

122,332 
 

111,576 
   Unallocated group administrative expenses 

 
(20,010) 

 
(18,654) 

   Unallocated other income 
 

136 18 
   Unallocated finance income 

 
3,623 3,814 

   Unallocated unamortised finance fees written off  - 
 

(3,394) 
   Impairment of property and equipment 

 
- (210) 

  Finance costs 
 

(14,497) (14,344) 
   Depreciation 

 

(14,050) (9,663) 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Group Profit before tax 
 
 
 

77,534 69,143 
  ========= ========== 
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION continued 
 
Reconciliation of Segment profit to Group profit 
 

  
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Segment profit 
 

101,446 
 

102,154 
   Unallocated finance income 

 
3,623 

 
3,814 

   Unallocated finance costs 
 

(7,175) (14,344) 
   Unallocated group administrative expenses 

 
(20,010) 

 
(18,654) 

   Unallocated unamortised finance fees written off  - 
 

(3,394) 
   Unallocated depreciation 

 
(486) (451) 

   Unallocated other income 
 

136 18 
    

 ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Group Profit before tax 
 
 
 

77,534 69,143 
  ========= ========== 

 
 

  
Reconciliation of Group assets 
 

  
   
 
 
 
 

2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Segment assets 
 

668,680 528,748 
   Unallocated property and equipment  

 
9,341 12,365 

   Unallocated inventory 
 

26 36 
   Unallocated accounts receivable and prepayments 

 
7,253 5,526 

   Unallocated amounts due from related parties 
 

- 267 
   Unallocated bank balances and cash 

 
78,633 74,954 

   Unallocated bank deposits 
 

183,577 193,366 
   Unallocated intangible assets 

 
3,015 - 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

----------------------- ----------------------- 

Group assets 
 
 
 

           950,525 815,262 
  

 
 
 
 
 

========= ========== 
   
Reconciliation of Group liabilities 
 

  
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Segment liabilities 
 

108,797 80,846 
   Unallocated term loans 

 
206,512 250,200 

   Unallocated employees’ end of service benefits 
 

1,101 219 
   Unallocated accounts payable and accruals 

 
11,335 12,547 

   Unallocated bank overdraft and other short term borrowings 
 

169,607 
 

82,238 
   Unallocated amounts due to related parties 

 
146 61 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Group liabilities 
 

497,498 426,111 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

========= ========== 
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION continued 
 
 
Other information 
The following table provides information relating to Group’s major customers who contribute more than 
10% towards the Group’s revenues: 
 

 

Healthcare 
Distribution and 

services 
 

Total 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
Year ended 31 December 2014 
 

   
  Customer 1 
 

92,246 - 
 

92,246 
  Customer 2 

 
35,005 -   

 
35,005 

 ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 
 127,251 - 

 
127,251 

 ========== ========== ========== 
Year ended 31 December 2013 
 

   
  Customer 1 
 

75,802 
 

- 
 

75,802 
   Customer 2 

 
32,715 

 
          -  

 
32,715 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 
 108,517 

 
- 
 

108,517 
 ========== ========== ========== 
 

Geographical information 
The Group has only one geographical segment – United Arab Emirates. All revenues from external 
customers are generated in the United Arab Emirates and all non-current assets are located in the United 
Arab Emirates. 
 
Analysis of revenue by category:   
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Revenue from services: 
 

  
  Healthcare – clinic 

 
260,938 207,532 

   Healthcare - management fees 
 

5,717 5,445 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

 266,655 212,977 
 Sale of goods: 

 
----------------------- ----------------------- 

  Distribution 
 

316,217 265,835 
   Healthcare 

 
61,059 72,066 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
 377,276 337,901 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Total 
 

643,931 550,878 
  ========= ========== 
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6 EXPENSES BY NATURE 
 
 

2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
   
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 
 

314,408 265,852 
 Salary expenses 

 
157,990 136,668 

 Rent expenses 
 

27,728 21,518 
 Sales promotion expenses 

 
35,174 29,533 

 Repair & maintenance expenses 
 

7,630 5,796 
 Others 

 
28,983 25,531 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
 571,913 484,898 

 Allocated  to : 
 

========= ========== 
  Direct costs  
 

434,725 365,336 
   General and administrative expenses 

 
137,188 119,562 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
 571,913 484,898 

  ========= ========== 
 
The classifications of the remaining expenses by nature recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income are: 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
     
Depreciation  
 

14,050 9,663 
Impairment of property and equipment  
 

- 210 
Finance costs 14,497 14,344 
Unamortised finance fees written off - 3,394 
 ---------------------- ---------------------- 
 28,547 27,611 

  ========= ========= 
   
7 OTHER INCOME 
 
Other income includes US$ 30,180,000 (2013: US$ 26,771,000) relating to reimbursement of 
advertisement and promotional expenses incurred by the Group. Revenue is recognised following the 
formal acceptance of the Group’s reimbursement claims by suppliers and is measured at the confirmed 
amount receivable. 
 
 
8 FINANCE COSTS  
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Bank interest 
 

12,324 12,788 
 Bank charges 

 
2,173 2,258 

 Change in fair value of derivative financial instrument 
 

- 
 

(702) 
  ---------------------- ----------------------- 

 14,497 14,344 
  ========= ========== 
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9 FINANCE INCOME 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Bank and other interest income 
 

3,623 3,814 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

 3,623 3,814 
 
 

 ========== ========== 
   
 
10 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE TAX 
 

The profit for the year before tax is stated after charging: 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (note 6) 
 

314,408 265,852 
  ========== ========== 

Cost of inventories written off and provided  
 

2,318 2,381 
  ========== ========== 

Minimum lease payments recognised as operating lease expense 
 

27,728 21,518 
  ========== ========== 

Depreciation (note 15) 
 

14,050 9,663 
  ========== ========== 

Net Impairment of accounts receivable (note 18) 
 

2,498 2,462 
  ========== ========== 

Employees’ end of service benefits (note 25) 
 

3,492 2,362 
  ========== ========== 

Net foreign exchange loss  
 

1,490 3,841 
  ========== ========== 

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 
 

 224 383 
   ========= ========== 

Share based payments expense (note 28) 
 

 88 - 
  ========== ========== 
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11 AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 
 
The Group paid the following amounts to its auditor and its associates in respect of the audit of the 
financial statements and for other services provided to the Group. 
 

 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the 
Company’s annual accounts 
 

593 615 
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other 
services: 
 

  

   - the audit of the company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 
 

149 142 
    - audit related assurance services 

 
130 155 

    - other assurance services 
 

- 15 
    - Tax compliances services 12 25 

   - Tax advisory services 8 25 
   - non audit services 
 

41 19 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

 933 996 
  ========== ========== 

   
   
Included in the fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts is 
US$ NIL (2013: US$ 100,000) which was under-accrued in respect of the prior year audit of the 
Company’s annual accounts. 
 
The fees paid to the auditor includes US$ 92,000 (2013: US$ 85,000) in respect of out of pocket 
expenses. There were no benefits in kind provided to the auditor or its associates in either 2014 or 2013. 
 
 
12 STAFF COSTS AND DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 
 
(a) Staff costs 
 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Wages and salaries 
 

144,942 126,580 
 Employees’ end of service benefits (note 26) 

 
3,492 2,362 

 Share based payment (note 28) 
 

88 - 
 Others  

 
9,468 7,726 

  -------------------- ---------------------- 
 157,990 136,668 

  ======== ========= 
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12 STAFF COSTS AND DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS continued 
 
Staff costs include amounts paid to directors, disclosed in part (b) below. The average number of monthly 
employees during the year was made up as follows: 
 
 2014 2013 
   
Healthcare 
 

3,874 3,169 
 Distribution & services 

 
1,846 1,726 

 Administration 
 

174 151 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

 5,894 5,046 
  ========== ========== 

(b) Directors’ remuneration 
 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Directors’ remuneration 
 

2,141 1,746 
  ========== ========== 

 
Some of the executive directors are entitled to end of service benefits and to participate in share option 
plans as disclosed in note 28.  Further information in respect of this compensation paid to directors is 
disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. 
 
13 TAX 
 
The Group operates solely in the United Arab Emirates and as there is no corporation tax in the United 
Arab Emirates, no taxes are recognised or payable on the operations in the UAE. It is the opinion of 
management that there are sufficient expenses in the Company to offset taxable income arising in the UK 
and accordingly any tax liability that could arise is likely to be immaterial. The unused tax losses amount 
to US$ 5,155,000 as at 31 December 2014 (2013: US $nil). 
 
 
14 EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)  
 
Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders 
of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 
 
Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary 
shares into ordinary shares. 
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14 EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS) continued 
 
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share 
computations: 
 
 2014 2013 
   
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent (US$ ‘000) 
 

76,566 68,165 
 ========== ========== 
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000) for 
basic EPS 
 

185,714 
185,714 

 

Effect of dilution from share based payments (‘000) 56 - 
 ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Weighted average number of  ordinary shares (‘000) for diluted    

EPS 185,770 185,714 

 ========== ========== 
   
Basic earnings per share (US$) 
 

0.412 0.367 
    

Diluted earnings per share (US$) 
 

0.412 0.367 
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15 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Property and equipment consists of the following: 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Property and equipment 
 

368,357 273,792   
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

 368,357     273,792 
 
 

 ========== ========== 
 

Freehold 
land 

Hospital 
building Buildings 

Leasehold 
improve-

ments 
Motor 

vehicles  

Furniture, 
fixtures  

fittings and 
medical 

equipment 

Capital 
work in 

progress Total 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 

31 December 2014 
 

        

Cost: 
 

        

At 1 January 2014 
 

     19,206  
 

     12,343  
 

26,300 
 

17,388 
 

5,887 
 

114,074 
 

171,389 366,587 

Additions 
 

-  
 

- 
 

- 
 

1,064 1,576 14,967 
 

94,686 112,293 
 Disposals 

 
- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(42) (1,265) 
 

- 
 

(1,307) 
 Transfer from  CWIP - - - 33,407  - 15,712 (49,119) - 

Transfer to intangible  
 

        
  Assets - - - - - - (3,198) (3,198) 

 ------------------
----- 

-----------------
------ 

-----------------
------ 

--------------------
--- 

--------------
--------- 

---------------------
-- 

----------------
------- 

--------------
--------- At 31 December 2014 

 
19,206 12,343 26,300 51,859 7,421 143,488 213,758 474,375 

 ------------------
----- 

-----------------
------ 

-----------------
------ 

--------------------
--- 

--------------
--------- 

---------------------
-- 

----------------
------- 

--------------
--------- Depreciation:         

  At  1 January 2014 -  
 

7,804 
 

4,501 
 

10,279 
 

4,868 
 

65,343 
 

          -  
 

92,795 
   Charge for the year 

 
-  
 

310 1,419 3,451 359 8,511 - 
 

14,050 

  Relating to disposals 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(42) (785) - 
 

(827) 
 ------------------ ----------------- ----------------- -------------------- -------------- --------------------- -------------- --------------

-- At 31 December 2014 
 

- 8,114 5,920 13,730 5,185 73,069 - 106,018 

 ------------------
----- 

-----------------
------ 

-----------------
------ 

--------------------
--- 

--------------
--------- 

---------------------
-- 

----------------
------- 

--------------
--------- Net carrying amount: 

 
        

  At 31 December 2014 
 

19,206 4,229 20,380 38,129 2,236 70,419 213,758 368,357 

 ======= =======
=== 

=======
=== 

======== ======
==== 

========= =======
=== 

======
==== 31 December 2013 

 
        

Cost: 
 

        

  At 1 January 2013 
 

     19,206  
 

     12,343  
 

26,269 
 

12,722 
 

5,544 
 

110,594 
 

104,067 
 

290,745 
   Additions 

 
-  
 

-  
 

31  
 

907 
 

83 
 

8,791 
 

72,840   82,652 
   Disposals 

 
-  
 

-  
 

-  
 

- 
 

(47) (6,553) 
 

- 
 

(6,600) 
   Transfer from CWIP 

progress 
 

           -  
 

           -  
 

- 
 

3,759 
 

307 
 

1,242 
 

(5,308) 
 

- 
   Impairment of property         

  and equipment            -  
 

           -  
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(210) (210) 
  ------------------

----- 
-----------------

------ 
-----------------

------ 
--------------------

--- 
--------------

--------- 
---------------------

-- 
----------------

------- 
--------------

--------- 
At 31 December 2013 
 

     19,206  
 

     12,343  
 

26,300 
 

17,388 
 

5,887 
 

114,074 
 

171,389 366,587 

 ------------------
----- 

-----------------
------ 

-----------------
------ 

--------------------
--- 

--------------
--------- 

---------------------
-- 

----------------
------- 

--------------
--------- Depreciation:         

 At  1 January 2013 -  
 

7,494 
 

3,083 
 

8,932 
 

4,701 
 

64,882 
 

-  
 

89,092 
   Charge for the year 

 
-  
 

310 
 

1,418 
 

1,347 
 

214 
 

6,374 
 

- 
 

9,663 
   Relating to disposals 

 
-  
 

         -  
 

         -  
 

- 
 

(47) 
 

(5,913) 
 

- 
 

(5,960) 
  ------------------

----- 
-----------------

------ 
-----------------

------ 
--------------------

--- 
--------------

--------- 
---------------------

-- 
----------------

------- 
--------------

---------   At  31 December 2013 
 

-  
 

7,804 
 

4,501 
 

10,279 
 

4,868 
 

65,343 
 

          -  
 

92,795 
 

 ------------------
----- 

-----------------
------ 

-----------------
------ 

--------------------
--- 

--------------
--------- 

---------------------
-- 

----------------
------- 

--------------
--------- 

Net carrying amount: 
 

        

  At 31 December 2013 
 

     19,206  
 

4,539 
 

21,799 
 

7,109 
 

1,019 
 

48,731 
 

171,389 273,792 
 

 ======== ======= ======= ======= ====== ======== ===== ====== 
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15 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT continued 
 
As part of the Group’s capital expenditure programme, borrowing costs of US$ 4,068,000 (2013: US$ 
4,886,000) net of finance income of US$ NIL (2013: US$ 54,000) have been capitalised during the year. 
The rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was 3.15% (2013: 
3.40%) which is the effective rate of the borrowings used to finance the capital expenditure. Companies in 
UAE are not subject to taxation and as such there is no tax relief in respect of capitalised interest.  
 
Total capital expenditure during the year ended 31 December 2014 was US$ 112,293,000 (2013: US$ 
82,652,000). Of the total capital expenditure spend during the year, US$ 94,686,000 (2013: US$ 
72,840,000) related to new capital projects and US$ 17,607,000 (2013: US$ 9,812,000) related to further 
capital investment in our existing facilities. 
 
Generally hospital and distribution operations are carried out on land and buildings which are leased from 
Government authorities or certain private parties. The majority of the lease periods range from five to 
twenty seven years apart from New Medical Centre Hospital LLC-Dubai (“Dubai General Hospital”), and 
the warehouse facilities which had leases renewable on an annual basis (note 2.3). As at 31 December 
2014 US$ 1,015,000 (2013: US$ 50,245,000) of the amounts included in property and equipment related 
to assets with annually renewable leases.  During the current year, the lease for the land on which Khalifa 
City Specialty Hospital is being constructed (which as at 31 December 2013 was an annually renewable 
lease) has been renewed so that it is now a 27 year lease expiring in the year 2040. 
  
In accordance with the local laws, except in some specific locations in the UAE the registered title of land 
and buildings must be held in the name of a UAE national. As a result, land and buildings of the Group are 
legally registered in the name of shareholders or previous shareholders of the Group. Certain land and 
buildings with a carrying amount of US$ 9,321,000 (31 December 2013: US$ 9,648,000) are held in the 
name of a previous shareholder for the beneficial interest of the Group. As the beneficial interest of such 
land and buildings resides with the Group, these assets are recorded within land and buildings in the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements. The directors take into account this local legal registration 
requirement, the Group’s entitlement to the beneficial interest arising from these assets, as well as other 
general business factors, when considering whether such assets are impaired. Subsequent to year end 
US$ 5,177,000 of the land and buildings which were held in the name of a previous shareholder for the 
beneficial interest of the Group were transferred into the name of a current UAE national shareholder. 
 
16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

 
2014 2013 

  US$ ‘000   US$ ‘000  

 

Software Goodwill Total Software Goodwill Total 

As at 1 January - 1,016 1,016 - 1,016 1,016 

Transfer from Capital work 
in progress (note 15) 

3,198 - 3,198 - - - 

Addition during the year 22 - 22 - - - 

 
---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- --------------------

- 
---------------------- 

As at 31 December 3,220 1,016 4,236 - 1,016 1,016 

 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued 
 
Software represents work-in-progress on the ERP system of the Group. During the year, an amount of 
US$ 3,198,000 in respect of ERP software has been transferred from capital work in progress within 
property and equipment to intangible assets. Management is currently in the process of estimating the 
useful economic life of the software and is still determining the amortization method to be applied. 
Amortization of the software will commence once it is implemented and goes live. 
 
Management has performed an impairment assessment of ERP software and believes that no impairment 
is required. 
   
Goodwill arose on the acquisition of BR Medical Suites FZ LLC on 1

 
July 2012.  

 
 
17 INVENTORIES 
 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Pharmaceuticals and cosmetics 
 

58,444 44,959 
 Scientific equipment 

 
11,295 11,899 

 Consumer products 
 

32,719 27,915 
 Food 

 
6,041 6,796 

 Telecommunication equipment 
 

231 569 
 Consumables 

 
211 290 

 Opticals 
 

333 358 
 Goods in transit 

 
1,750 

 
1,594 

 Other 
 

573 459 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

 111,597 94,839 
 Less: provisions for slow moving and obsolete inventories 

 
(1,388) (716) 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
 110,209 94,123 

  ========== ========== 
 
The amount of write down of inventories recognised as an expense for the year ended 31 December 2014 
is US$ 1,646,000 (2013: US$ 1,781,000).  This is recognised in direct costs. 
 
Charge for the year in respect of provision provided for slow moving and obsolete inventories is US$ 
672,000 (2013 : US$ 600,000) 
 
Trust receipts issued by banks amounting to US$ 25,059,000 (2013: US$ 3,100,000) are secured against 
the inventories. 

 
18 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS 
 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Accounts receivable 
 

168,207 145,993 
 Receivable from suppliers for promotional expenses  9,349 9,696 
 Other receivables 

 
6,262 6,845 

 Prepayments 
 

12,751 5,848 
  ---------------------- ----------------------- 

 196,569 168,382 
 
 

========= ========== 
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18 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS continued 
 
Receivables from suppliers relate to advertising and promotional expenses incurred by the Group. 
Accounts receivable are stated net of provision for doubtful debts of US$ 8,996,000 (2013: US$ 8,241,000). 
Movements in the provision for doubtful debts are as follows: 
 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
At 1 January 

 
8,241 6,444 

 Written off 
 

(1,743) 
 

(665) 
 Written back (note 10) 

 
(471) (472) 

 Charge for the year (note 10) 
 

2,969 2,934 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

At 31 December 
 

8,996 8,241 
  ========= ========== 

 
 
The ageing of unimpaired accounts receivable is as follows: 
 
    Past due but not impaired 

 

Total  

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired < 90 days 
91-180 

days 
181-365 

days >365 days 

 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 

       

31 December 2014       

  Accounts receivable 
 

168,207 115,379 37,884 9,985 3,777 1,182 

       

31 December 2013       

  Accounts receivable 
 

145,993 
 

104,028 
 

31,658 
 

6,053 
 

2,774 
 

1,480 
        

 
Unimpaired receivables are expected, on the basis of past experience, to be fully recoverable. It is not the 
practice of Group to obtain collateral over receivables and they are therefore unsecured. As at 31 December 
2014 trade receivables of US$ 8,996,000 (2013: US$ 8,241,000) were impaired and fully provided for. 
 
Credit risk is managed through the Group’s established policy, procedures and controls relating to credit 
risk management (note 29). A majority of the receivables that are past due but not impaired are from 
insurance companies and government-linked entities in the United Arab Emirates which are inherently 
slow payers due to their long invoice verification and approval of payment procedures. Payments continue 
to be received from these customers and accordingly the risk of non-recoverability is considered to be 
low. 
 
Of the net trade receivables balance of US$ 168,207,000 (2013: US$ 145,993,000) amount of US$ 
73,069,000 is against five customers (2013: US$ 61,353,000 is against five customers).  
 
The Group’s terms require receivables to be repaid within 90-120 days depending on the type of 
customer, which is in line with local practice in the UAE. Due to the long credit period offered to 
customers, a significant amount of trade accounts receivable are neither past due nor impaired.  
 
Amounts due from related parties amounting to US$ 7,985,000 (31 December 2013: US$ 9,254,000) as 
disclosed on the face of the consolidated statement of financial position are trading in nature and arise in 
the normal course of business. 
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise of the following: 
 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Bank deposits 

 
183,577 193,366 

 Bank balances and cash 
 

79,592 75,329 
 Bank overdrafts and other short term borrowings 

 
(169,607) 

 
(82,238) 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
 93,562 186,457 

 Adjustments for: 
 

  
Short term borrowings 
 

143,875 74,183 
 Bank deposits maturing in over 3 months 

 
(82,209) (148,380) 

 Restricted cash 
 

(18,909) (33,059) 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 

136,619 79,201 
  ========= ========== 

Bank deposits of US$ 183,577,000 (2013: US$ 193,366,000) are with commercial banks in the United 
Arab Emirates. These are mainly denominated in the UAE Dirhams and earn interest at the respective 
deposit rates. These deposits have original maturity between 3 to 12 months (2013: 3 to 12 months).  
 
Short term borrowings include trust receipts and invoice discounting facilities which mature between 90 
and 180 days. Trust receipts are short term borrowings to finance imports.  The bank overdrafts and short 
term borrowings are secured by assets of the Group up to the amount of the respective borrowings and 
personal guarantees of the shareholders (H.E. Saeed Mohamed Butti Mohamed Al Qebaisi, Dr BR Shetty 
and Khalifa Butti Omair Yousif Ahmad Al Muhairi) and carry interest at EIBOR plus margin rates ranging 
from 1% to 4% (2013: 3% to 4%) per annum. 
 
At 31 December 2014, the Group had US$ 19,474,000 (2013: US$ 18,323,000) of undrawn bank overdraft 
facilities, which are renewable annually. 
 
Restricted cash mainly represents funds held by a bank in respect of upcoming loan repayment instalments. 
 
 
20 SHARE CAPITAL 
 
As at 31 December 2014 and 31 December  2013: 
 

 

   

 Number of 
shares 

Ordinary 
shares 

Share 
premium 

Total 

 (thousands) US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
     
Issued and fully paid 

 
    

(nominal value 10 pence sterling each) 
 

185,714 
 

29,566 
 

179,152 
 

208,718 
  ========== =========

= 
========== ========== 

 
21 GROUP RESTRUCTURING RESERVE 
 
The Group restructuring reserve arises on consolidation under the pooling of interests method used for 
group restructuring, which took place on 28 March 2012 when the Company became the holding company 
of NMC Healthcare LLC through its wholly owned subsidiaries, NMC Holding LLC and NMC Health 
Holdco Limited .Under this method, the group is treated as a continuation of the NMC Healthcare LLC 
group. The difference between the share capital of NMC Healthcare LLC (US$ 27,226,000) and the 
carrying amount of the investment in that company (US$ 37,227,000), which equates to the net assets of  
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21 GROUP RESTRUCTURING RESERVE continued 
 
NMC Healthcare LLC at the date of reorganisation (28 March 2012), amounting to US$ 10,001,000(debit), 
is recorded on consolidation as a group restructuring reserve. This reserve is non-distributable.  
 
 
22 RETAINED EARNINGS 
 
As at 31 December 2014, retained earnings of US$ 16,101,000 (2013: US$ 14,333,000) are not 
distributable. This relates to a UAE Companies Law requirement to set aside 10% of annual profit of all 
UAE subsidiaries until their respective reserves equal 50% of their paid up share capital. The subsidiaries 
discontinue such annual transfers once this requirement has been met.  
 
 
23 DIVIDEND    
 
In the AGM on 26 June 2014 the shareholders approved a dividend of 4.4 pence per share, amounting to 
GBP 8,212,700 (US$ 13,846,000) to be paid to shareholders on the Company’s share register on 31 May 
2014. The dividend amount was paid to the shareholders on 4 July 2014 (2013: a dividend of GBP 
7,614,286 equivalent to US$ 11,598,326 was approved on 25 June 2013 and paid on 4 July 2013). No 
interim dividend was declared during the year. Subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual General 
Meeting on 16 June 2015, a final dividend of 5.4 pence per share, GBP10,028,600 (US$15,444,000) will 
be paid to shareholders on the Company’s share register on 29 May 2015. 
 
     
24 TERM LOANS 
 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Current portion 

 
92,055 88,355 

 Non-current portion 
 

114,457 161,845 
   --------------------- ----------------------- 

 206,512 250,200 
  ========= ========== 

Amounts are repayable as follows: 
 

  
   
Within 1 year 
 

92,055 88,355 
 Between 1 - 2 years 

 
49,129 50,871 

 Between 2 - 5 years 
 

65,328 110,974 
  --------------------- ----------------------- 

 206,512 250,200 
  ========= ========== 

   
 
During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group drew down term loans of US$ 263,594,000 (Year 
ended 31 December 2013: US$ 524,465,000) and repaid term loans of US$ 307,282,000 (Year ended 31 
December 2013: US$ 500,627,000). 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group agreed a new syndicated loan facility, led by JP 
Morgan Chase Bank, of US$ 225,000,000 (with an additional available facility of US$ 75,000,000 which 
the group has not drawn down to date). The loan facility is repayable over 54 monthly instalments with a 
grace period of six months and carries interest at the rate of 1 month US$ LIBOR + 3% + mandatory 
costs; if any, per annum. The new syndicated loan facility was utilised to repay some of the existing debts 
including the debt with JP Morgan Chase Bank against the facility of US$ 150,000,000 obtained in 2012 
and is also being utilised for capital expenditures. The Group has utilised an amount of US$ 225,000,000 
against the new syndicated loan facility as of 31 December 2014 (31 December 2013: US$ 225,000,000). 
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24 TERM LOANS continued 
 

This new syndicated loan is guaranteed by corporate guarantees provided by NMC Health plc and 
operating subsidiaries of the Group. The new syndicated loan is secured against a collateral package 
which includes an assignment of some insurance company receivables and their proceeds by the Group 
and a pledge over certain bank accounts within the Group. 

In addition to the JP Morgan loan facility, term loans also include other short term revolving loans which 
get drawn down and repaid over the year and carry interest at varying rates  which include EIBOR + 
margins ranging from 3% to 3.75% per annum, except for one of the loans which carries interest at a fixed 
rate of 7.5% per annum. 
 
The Group charged an amount of US$ 3,394,000 in the previous year to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income with respect to unamortised transaction costs of previously existing debts which 
were settled during the year ended 31 December 2013 using the proceeds of the new syndicated loan led 
by JP Morgan Chase Bank. 
 
 
25 EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS 
 
Movements in the provision recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: 
 
 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Balance at 1 January 

 
12,099 10,380 

 Charge for the year 
 

3,492 2,362 
 Employees’ end of service benefits paid 

 
(657) (643) 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Balance at 31 December 
 

14,934 12,099 
  ========== ========== 

   
Current 
 

2,484 2,063 
 Non –current  

 
12,450 10,036 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Balance at 31 December 
 

14,934 12,099 
  ========== ========== 

 
Charge for the year comprise of the following 
 
Current service cost 
 

2,991 1,909 
 Interest cost 

 
501 453 

  ---------------------- ----------------------- 
Balance at 31 December 
 

3,492 2,362 
  ========= ========== 

 
In accordance with the provisions of IAS 19 – ‘Employee Benefits’, management has carried out an 
exercise to assess the present value of its obligation at 31 December 2014 and 2013, using the projected 
unit credit method, in respect of employees’ end of service benefits payable under the UAE Labour Law. 
The impact of the actuarial valuation is not material to the Group, accordingly no actuarial gain or losses 
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Management has assumed an average length of service 
of 5 years (2013: 5 years) and increment/promotion costs of 3.0% (2013: 3.0%). The expected liability at 
the date of employees’ leaving service has been discounted to its net present value using a discount rate 
of 4.0% (2013: 4.5%). Management also performed a sensitivity analysis for changes in discount rate and 
increment costs; the results of this analysis showed that none of the factors had any material impact on 
the actuarial valuation. 
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26 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS 
 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   

   
Trade accounts payable 
 

77,906 57,565 
 Other payables  

 
16,178 13,416 

 Accrued interest 
 

1,532 
 

705 
 Accrued expenses 

 
2,428 4,401 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
 98,044 76,087 

  ========= ========= 
 
Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 50-60 day terms.  

 
 
27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 
These represent transactions with related parties, including major shareholders and senior management 
of the Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties, or where 
such parties are members of the key management personnel of the entities. Pricing policies and terms of 
all transactions are approved by the management of the Group.  
 
The Company’s immediate and ultimate controlling party is a group of three individuals (H.E. Saeed Bin 
Butti, Dr BR Shetty and Mr Khalifa Bin Butti) who are all shareholders and of whom one is a director of the 
Company and who together have the ability to control the company. As the immediate and ultimate 
controlling party is a group of individuals, it does not produce consolidated financial statements. 
 
Relationship agreement 
The Controlling Shareholders and the Company have entered into a relationship agreement, the principal 
purpose of which is to ensure that the Company is capable of carrying out its business independently of 
the Controlling Shareholders and that transactions and relationships with the Controlling Shareholders are 
at arm’s length and on a normal commercial basis.  
 
In accordance with the terms of the relationship agreement, the Controlling Shareholders have a collective 
right to appoint a number of Directors to the Board depending upon the level of their respective 
shareholdings. This entitlement reduces or is removed as the collective shareholdings reduce. The 
relationship agreement includes provisions to ensure that the Board remains independent. 
 

 
Transactions with related parties included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are as 
follows: 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Entities significantly influenced by a shareholder who is a key 
management personnel in NMC 
 
 
management personnel in NMC. 

  
  

  Sales 
 

9,775 8,828 
   Purchases 

 
32,336 30,040 

   Rent charged 
 

422 418 
   Other Income 970 582 

   
Entities where a shareholder of NMC is a key member of 
management personnel of such entity 
Personnel of the entity. 

  
  

  Management fees received from such entity by NMC 
 

5,717 5,445 
   Sales 

 
2,015 2,608 
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued 
 
Amounts due from and due to related parties disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position 
are as follows: 
 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Entities significantly influenced by a shareholder who is a key 
management personnel in NMC 
Personnel of the entity. 

  
  

  Amounts due from related parties 
 
 

3,603 3,619 
   Amounts due to related parties 8,380 5,018 

    
 
Entities where a shareholder of NMC is a key member of 
management personnel of the entity 

  
management personnel of such entity   
  Amounts due from related parties 
 

4,382 5,635 
    

Shareholder: 
 

  
  Amounts due to related parties 
 

-   61 
 
 
Outstanding balances with related parties at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 were unsecured, 
payable on 50-60 days term and carried interest at 0 % (31 December 2013: 0%) per annum. Settlement 
occurs in cash. As at 31 December 2014 US$ 1,998,000 of the amounts due from related parties were 
past due but not impaired (31 December 2013: US$ 3,249,000). 
 
The Group has incurred expenses and recharged back an amount of US$ 3,018,000 (31 December 2013: 
US$ 12,340,000) made on behalf of a related party where a shareholder who has significant influence 
over the Group is a key management personnel of that entity. 
 
With the exception of the JP Morgan Chase syndicated loan facility of US$ 225,000,000, all credit facilities 
provided by the bankers to the Group are secured by joint and several personal/corporate guarantees of 
the shareholders (H.E. Saeed Mohamed Butti Al Qebaisi, Dr BR Shetty and Khalifa Butti Omair Yousif 
Ahmad Al Muhairi). 
 
Pharmacy licenses, under which the Group sells its products, are granted to the shareholders or directors 
of the Company, who are UAE nationals. No payments are made in respect of these licenses to 
shareholders or directors.  
 
 
Compensation of key management personnel 
 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
Short term benefits 

 
3,074 4,065 

 Employees’ end of service benefits 
 

20 19 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

 3,094 4,084 
 ========== ========== 
 
The key management personnel include all the Non-Executive Directors, the three Executive Directors (31 
December 2013: two) and three (31 December 2013: five) senior management personnel. 
 
Two individuals who are related parties of one of the shareholders are employed by the Group. The total 
compensation for employment received by those related parties in the year ended 31 December 2014 
amounts to US$ 572,000 (2013: US$ 541,000). 
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28 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
 
The Group currently operates two share option schemes: 
 
Long term incentive plan (LTIP) 
Options awarded under the LTIP are made annually to Executive Directors and other senior management.  
The exercise prices are nil. Options have a life of ten years and a vesting period of three years.  The LTIP 
is subject to performance conditions which can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report in the 
Annual Report.   
 
Short term incentive plan (STIP) 
Options awarded under the STIP are made annually to Executive Directors and other senior 
management.  The exercise prices are nil. Options have a life of ten years and a vesting period of three 
years.  
 
Fair values are determined using the Black-Scholes model. Expected volatility has been based on 
historical volatility over the period since the Company’s shares have been publically traded.  
 
Administrative expenses include a charge of US$ 88,000 (2013: US$ nil) in respect of the cost of 
providing share options. The cost is calculated by estimating the fair value of the option at grant date and 
spreading that amount over the vesting period after adjusting for an expectation of non-vesting. 
 
For options granted in the year ended 31 December 2014, the fair value per option granted and the 
assumptions used in the calculation are as follows: 
 
 2014 2014 
 LTIP STIP 
   
Share price at grant date 
 

 

£4.949 £4.570 
Fair value at measurement date £4.769 £4.403 
Exercise price 
 

£nil £nil 
Expected volatility 35% 35% 
Expected option life 3 years 3 years 
Expected dividend yield 
 

1.23% 1.23% 
Risk free interest rate 
 

0.98% 0.98% 
   
 
The options existing at the year-end were as follows: 
 
  2014  2013 

 
Number 

of shares 
Exercise 

price 
Period when 
exercisable 

Number of 
shares 

     
Long term incentive plan (LTIP) 

 
    

October 2014 160,778 £nil 29/10/17 to 28/10/24 - 
     
Short term incentive plan (STIP) 
 

    
October 2014 55,527 £nil 29/10/17 to 28/10/24 - 
 -----------------------   ----------------------- 
Total options subsisting on existing 
ordinary shares 
 

216,305  
 

- 

 -----------------------   ----------------------- 

Percentage of issued share capital 0.1%  
 

- 

 ==========   ========== 
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28 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS continued 
 
Movement of share options during the year is as follows: 
 
 2014 2013 
 

  
   
Granted during the year 

 
216,305 - 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Outstanding at 31 December 216,305 - 
 ========== ========== 
 
No options expired, were exercised or forfeited during the year (2013: nil). 
 
29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
 
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings and trade and other payables. In 
addition of these financial liabilities the Group had an interest rate swap as of 31 December 2013 which 
matured during the current year. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s 
operations. The Group has accounts and other receivables, and cash and short-term deposits that arise 
directly from its operations.  
 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk.  
 
The Group’s senior management oversees the management of these risks. The Board of Directors 
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below. 
 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its interest 
bearing assets and liabilities (bank deposits, bank overdrafts and other short term borrowings and term 
loans). Management is of the opinion that the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is limited. 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the statement of comprehensive income to reasonably 
possible changes in interest rates, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity of the statement 
of comprehensive income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the Group’s profit for 
the year based on the floating rate financial assets and financial liabilities as of the respective year end. 
Sensitivity impact as of 31 December 2013 has been calculated after taking into account interest rate 
swap arrangement held at 31 December 2013.  

 

Increase/ 
(decrease) in basis points 

Effect on profit at 31 December 
2014 

Effect on profit at 31 December 
2013 

 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   

                  100  
 

(1,925) (1,105) 
                 (100) 

 
1,925 1,105 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES continued 

 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or 
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group limits its credit risk with respect to customers 
due to the nature of the customers that it has dealings with. Within the Healthcare business the majority of 
the Group’s customers are Insurance Companies. The largest insurance company is fully backed by 
Sovereign wealth funding from Abu Dhabi. All other insurance companies are required to be listed on a 
stock exchange and therefore are governed by the regulations of their respective markets. Within the 
distribution business the Group deals primarily with large reputable multinational retail companies. The 
Group further seeks to limit its credit risk by setting credit limits for individual customers and monitoring 
outstanding receivables. 
 
The Group limits its credit risk with regard to bank deposits by only dealing with reputable banks. The 
external credit ratings for the banks at which the bank deposits and cash at bank are held are as follows: 
 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   
B2 229 - 
AA-/A-1/Aa3 812 498 
A+/A1 4,345 701 
A/A2 267 32,352 
A+/A-1 - 1,762 
A3/A- 599 1,188 
Baa2 16,224 789 
Baa3 208,694 - 
BBB- 30,229 187,822 
BBB+/Baa1/Baa1/P-2 280 13,099 
Without external credit rating 
 

1,149 30,167 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total bank deposit and cash at bank 
 

262,828 268,378 
  ========= ========== 

 
With respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s exposure to credit risk 
arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these 
instruments. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES continued 
 
Liquidity risk 
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the 
use of banking facilities. The Group limits its liquidity risk by raising funds from its operations and ensuring 
bank facilities are available. Trade payables are normally settled within 50-60 days of the date of 
purchase. 
 
The table below summarises the maturities of the Group’s undiscounted financial liabilities, based on 
contractual payment dates and current market interest rates. 
 

 
On demand 

Less than 3 
months 

3 to 12 
months 1 to 5 years Total 

 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 

      

At 31 December 2014 
 

     

Trade accounts payable 
 

- 77,906 - 

 

- 

 
77,906 

Amounts due to related parties 
 

- 

 
8,380 - 

 

- 

 
8,380 

Other payables 
 

- 

 
16,178 - 

 
21 16,199 

Terms loans 
 

- 
 

21,847 78,342 121,135 221,324 

Bank overdrafts and other short term 
borrowings 
 

26,180 60,136 87,982 - 174,298 

Financial guarantees 8,311 - - - 8,311 

 ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 

 
34,491 184,447 166,324 121,156 506,418 

 ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 

      

At 31 December 2013 
 

     

Trade accounts payable 
 

-  
 

57,565 
 

-  
 

-  
 

57,565 

Amounts due to related parties 
 

-  
 

5,079 
 

-  
 

-  
 

5,079 

Other payables 
 

-  
 

13,416 
 

-  
 

408 13,824 

Terms loans 
 

- 
 

21,128 
 

75,603 
 

175,803 
 

272,534 
 Bank overdrafts and other short term 

borrowings 
 

8,178 42,090 34,048              -  84,316 

Financial guarantees 7,067 - - - 7,067 

 ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 
 

15,245 
 

139,278 109,651 
 

176,211 
 

440,385 

 ========== ========== ========== ========== ========== 

 
The Group also has future capital commitments for the completion of ongoing capital projects of US$ 
25,012,000 (2013: US$ 76,402,000) (note 31). These are to be financed from the fixed deposits held by 
the Group.  
 
 
Foreign currency risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Foreign currency risk comprises of transaction 
and statement of financial position risk. Transaction risk relates to the Group’s cash flow being adversely 
affected by a change in the exchange rates of foreign currencies against the UAE Dirham. Statement of 
financial position risk relates to the risk of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies 
acquiring a lower or higher value, when translated into UAE Dirhams, as a result of currency movements. 
 
The Group is exposed to currency risk on its trade accounts payable denominated in foreign currencies, 
mainly in Euros and Swiss Francs. Management believes that the foreign currency risk is not significant 
for any possible movement in foreign currency rates. 
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES continued 
 
Capital management 
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital 
ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value. 
 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in business 
conditions. Capital comprises share capital, share premium, Group restructuring reserve and retained 
earnings and is measured at US$ 449,023,000 as at 31 December 2014 (2013: US$ 386,236,000). In 
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. Certain 
banking facilities may also impose covenant requirements on the Group with respect to capital 
management.  
 

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt. The 
Group includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings, accounts payable and accruals and 
other payables less bank deposits and bank balances and cash.   
 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
   

  
 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 
 

376,119 332,438 
 Accounts payable and accruals 

 
98,065 76,495 

 Less: bank deposits, bank balances and cash 
 

(263,169) (268,695) 
 
 

 ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Net debt 
 

211,015 140,238 
    

Capital 
 

449,023 386,236 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

   
Capital and net debt 
 

660,038 526,474 

 ========== ========== 

Gearing ratio 
 
 

32% 27% 

   

   

 

 
30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
The Group had contingent liabilities in respect of bank and other guarantees and other matters arising in 
the ordinary course of business from which it is anticipated that no material liabilities will arise at 
31 December 2014 of US$ 8,311,000 (2013: US$ 7,067,000). 
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31 COMMITMENTS 
 
Capital commitments 
The Group had future capital commitments of US$ 25,012,000 at 31 December 2014 (2013: US$ 
76,402,000) principally relating to the completion of ongoing capital projects. 
 
Other commitments 
 2014 2013 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable 
operating leases 

 

  

  Within one year 
 
 

10,816 10,491 
   After one year but not more than five years 

 
44,947 43,984 

   More than five years 
 

91,003 102,782 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 

 146,766 157,257 
  ========== ========== 

 
32 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT 
 
The Group entered into the following interest rate swap to manage its interest rate exposure: 
 

Negative fair 
value 

Notional 
amount Maturity profile 

 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000  
    
At 31 December 2014 
 

   
  Interest rate swap US$ 
 

- - - 
    

At 31 December 2013 
 

   
  Interest rate swap US$ 

 
(179) 

 
24,503 

 
Feb-14 

     

 
The interest rate swaps were contracted to hedge the interest cash flows on term loans. As these swaps 
do not qualify for hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39, the movement in fair value gain/loss of 
US$ NIL for the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: gain of US$ 702,000) has been charged to the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 
During the year the interest rate swap reached maturity and so as at 31 December 2014 the Group no 
longer had any interest rate swaps. 
 
The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at year end and are neither 
indicative of the market risk nor credit risk. 
 
The negative fair value of interest rate swaps was included within accounts payable and accruals as 
“other payables” as at 31 December 2013. 
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33 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 
The fair values of the Group’s financial instruments are not materially different from their carrying values 
at the statement of financial position date. 
 
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments by valuation technique: 
 
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are 
observable, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not 
based on observable market data. 
 
For financial instruments that are recognized at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (bases 
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 
reporting period.  
 
Liabilities measured at fair value: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Total fair 

value 
 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 US$ ‘000 
     

31 December 2014     
  Interest rate swaps 
 

- - - - 
     
31 December 2013     
  Interest rate swaps  
 

-  
 

(179) 
 

-  
 

(179) 
      

 
During the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013, there were no transfers between 
Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value 
measurements.  
 
During the year the interest rate swap reached maturity and so as at 31 December 2014 the Group no 
longer had any interest rate swaps. 
 
The fair value of the interest rate swap is determined by reference to market values for similar 
instruments.  It is measured using the Forward Price Method; under this method a forward rate or value is 
determined based on the current market price or value of the interest rate and an appropriate rate curve 
and assuming that the forward price, rate or value will be realized in future periods. 
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34 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
New financing facility 
On 16 February 2015, the Company announced that it has obtained underwriting commitments for a new 
US$ 825 million financing facility from a number of international and regional banks through its subsidiary, 
NMC Healthcare LLC. The new facility has been structured as two separate tranches: 
 
1) an Amortizing Term Loan Facility of US$ 350 million equivalent to refinance existing indebtedness of 
NMC and its subsidiaries (including the existing JP Morgan syndicated term loan facility) and to provide 
additional funds for general corporate purposes; and  
2) a Delayed Draw Acquisition Facility of US$ 475 million equivalent to facilitate NMC's ongoing strategy 
of making phased acquisitions that will be accretive to the Company's underlying business and 
profitability. 
 
The overall quantum of the new facility, combined with the Group's robust statement of financial position, 
is expected to ensure adequate available liquidity to capitalize on growth opportunities as they are 
identified.  
 
Acquisition of Clinica Eugin 
On 23 February 2015 the Group acquired 86.4% of the issued share capital of Clinica Eugin, a leading 
global fertility treatment provider based in Barcelona, Spain, for a total consideration of €143m which was 
settled in cash, thereby obtaining control of Clinica Eugin. The primary reasons for this acquisition include; 
Eugin is a leading global IVF centre of excellence, bringing technologies in fertility services to NMC’s 
network in the UAE, accelerating the development of NMC into a centre of clinical excellence for women’s 
health and allowing NMC to establish a foothold in the UAE medical tourism market. 
 
As this acquisition took place on 23 February 2015 which is the same day that the financial statements 
were authorised for issue, the initial accounting for this business combination is incomplete. Accordingly, 
the Group has been unable to provide the remaining disclosures required by paragraph B64 of IFRS 3 
Business Combinations in respect of business combinations which have taken place after the end of the 
reporting period  (such as the amount of goodwill or gain on bargain purchase recognised, disclosures in 
respect of acquired receivables, major classes of receivables and contingent liabilities and the amount of 
the non-controlling interest in Clinica Eugin and the measurement basis of that amount).  
 
Transfer of land and buildings 
Subsequent to year end US$ 5,177,000 of the land and buildings which were held in the name of a 
previous shareholder for the beneficial interest of the Group were transferred into the name of a current 
UAE national shareholder. 
 
 
There were no other events which would have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements 
between 31 December 2014 and the date of this report. 
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Principal risks and Uncertainties 
 
The Board consider the identification and mitigation of material risks and uncertainties faced by the Group 
as a key issue to be monitored at all levels of the organisation. The senior management team ensure that 
operational management consider risk as part of their day to day activities. This is considered to be 
particularly key for NMC as a Group working in a regulated environment. 
  
In order to enhance the Group’s risk management process, towards the end of 2014 the management 
team, assisted by an independent third party, PwC, undertook a review the Group’s key risks alongside 
the macro-economic environment within which the Group operates to establish a Strategic Risk Register.  
 
The Strategic Risk Register, which is the basis for the list of principal risks and uncertainties will be 
reviewed and maintained on an on-going basis by management, with the Board retaining oversight over 
the Register and the risk management process. 
 
These risks, the potential effect of these risks on the Group and the mitigation of those risks is analysed in 
the following table. It should be noted that the order that these risks are expressed in the table do not 
reflect an order of magnitude as regards their potential impact on the Group. 
 

Risk Class Description and Potential Impact  Current Mitigations 

Investments 

Delays in completion, or errors in assessing 
the impact, of new strategic expansion projects 
may result in  

 lower Return on Investment (ROI);  

 lower revenue than expected; 

 decreased margins and market share; 

 potential for impairment of assets; 

 reputational issue leading to difficulty in 
raising future finance.  

 Board oversight in approving 
and monitoring strategic 
projects 

 Project management controls 

  Detailed market and business 
appraisal processes 

Competition 

Increased competition due to high private and 
public investments in the UAE healthcare 
sector and to associated investments coming 
from new entrants or existing player 
partnerships would lead to market share loss 
and potential reduction in access to future 
growth in UAE healthcare spend. 

 Integrated Hub-Spoke model 

 Growing healthcare network 

 Government Partnership for 
managing Government 
hospitals 

 Diversification of patient base 

Financial 

Potential inability to improve NMC’s earnings 
due to medical related cost inflation and 
potential changes in insurance environment 
may directly impact the top line and profit 
margin  

 Diversification of the revenue 
streams 

 Frequent monitoring of both 
fixed and variable cost 

 Insurance sector is highly 
regulated 

 Good relationships with 
insurance providers 

 Strategy to increase patient 
volumes and focus on clinical 
specialisms 

 Macro-economic 

Potential instability in revenue impairing cash 
flow and working capital health as a result of  
demographic and geopolitical factors both 
globally and in the region will significantly 
impact NMC revenue. 

 UAE is a traditionally stable 
market 

 Diverse business and revenue 
streams 

 Long Term debt facilities and 
unutilised working capital limits  

 Strong banking and supplier 
relationships 

  

Human Capital 

Shortage of medical staff due to talent 
acquisition challenges, scarcity in medical 
professionals and competitive market and any 
lack of depth and breadth in management 
structure during the period of significant growth 

 Partnership with education 
institutes 

 Effective sourcing strategies 
and 

 recruitment campaigns 
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Risk Class Description and Potential Impact  Current Mitigations 

could potentially lead to inability to deliver the 
Company’s strategy and required healthcare 
services and potential loss of reputation. 

Ongoing review of senior 
management resource. 

 Competitive salary packages, 
patient growth and good 
working conditions act as a 
good retention tool 

Technology and 
Innovation 

Data Security breach or a lack of up to date 
integrated IT infrastructure may result in 
hindered operations and reputation damage.  

 ISO 27001 certified framework 
for IT policies and controls. 

 Strict measures towards 
clients’ data and records 

 Investment in new Hospital 
Information System and ERP 
financial system approved by 
the Board and implementation 
in progress  

Compliance, 
Regulations and 

Standards 

Failure to comply with multi regulatory and 
standards bodies' requirements could result in 
financial fines, inability to renew licences, as 
well as NMC reputation damage. 

 Quality & Standards 
Department monitoring 
regulatory changes 

 Partnership with government 

 Good relationships with 
regulators and accrediting 
organisations 

 Continuous focus on delivering 
high levels of service 

Product and 
Services Risk  

Failure to comply with internationally 
recognised clinical care and quality standards, 
clinical negligence, the mis-diagnosis of 
medical conditions or pharmaceuticals and the 
supply of unfit products across both divisions 
could result in regulatory sanction, licence 
removal, significant reputational damage, loss 
of patient and customer confidence and 
potential criminal proceedings. 
 

 Doctors subject to rigorous 
licensing procedures which 
operate in the UAE 

 Healthcare division is a 
regulated business and the 
Group’s three principal 
hospitals have international 
quality standards accreditation 

 Many aspects of the operation 
of the Distribution division, 
including the sale of 
pharmaceuticals, is regulated 
in the UAE 

 Board oversight and integrated 
governance structure 

 Medical malpractice insurance 
to cover any awards of 
financial damages 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 


